



# Leibniz–Chern–Simons Theory and Phases of Exceptional Field Theory

**Olaf Hohm<sup>1</sup>**, Henning Samtleben<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Simons Center for Geometry and Physics, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-3636, USA. E-mail: ohohm@scgp.stonybrook.edu

Received: 7 June 2018 / Accepted: 28 November 2018 Published online: 26 February 2019 – © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2019

**Abstract:** We discuss a generalization of Chern–Simons theory in three dimensions based on Leibniz (or Loday) algebras, which are generalizations of Lie algebras. Special cases of such theories appear in gauged supergravity, where the Leibniz algebra is defined in terms of the global (Lie) symmetry algebra of the ungauged limit and an embedding tensor. We show that the Leibniz algebra of generalized diffeomorphisms in exceptional field theory can similarly be obtained from a Lie algebra that describes the enhanced symmetry of an 'ungauged phase' of the theory. Moreover, we show that a 'topological phase' of  $E_{8(8)}$  exceptional field theory can be interpreted as a Chern–Simons theory for an algebra unifying the three-dimensional Poincaré algebra and the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms.

## Contents

1.	Introduction	1056
2.	Leibniz Algebras and Their Chern–Simons Theories	1058
	2.1 Leibniz algebras and their gauge fields	1058
	2.2 Invariant inner product and Chern–Simons action	1060
3.	Leibniz Algebra of $E_{8(8)}$ Generalized Diffeomorphisms	1061
4.	Embedding Tensor and Ungauged Phase	1065
	4.1 Review of embedding tensor	1065
	4.2 Leibniz algebras via coadjoint action of Lie algebras	1067
	4.3 $E_{8(8)}$ generalized diffeomorphisms and the ungauged phase	1070
5.	Topological Phase of $E_{8(8)}$ Exceptional Field Theory	1073
	5.1 $E_{8(8)}$ Poincaré Leibniz algebra	1074
	5.2 $E_{8(8)}$ Poincaré Leibniz algebra via coadjoint action	1077
	5.3 Equivalence of gauge transformations	1078
	5.4 Generalization to AdS gravity	1081
6.	Summary and Outlook	1083

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Univ Lyon, Ens de Lyon, Úniv Claude Bernard, CNRS, Laboratoire de Physique, 69342 Lyon, France. E-mail: henning.samtleben@ens-lyon.fr

#### 

### 1. Introduction

Chern–Simons actions define topological field theories in three dimensions (3D) [1] and arise in numerous contexts, for instance: as part of string theory and supergravity compactified to (or constructed in) 3D [2]; as a powerful framework for knot theory [3]; and as effective field theories for the quantum Hall effect (see [4] for a review). Moreover, pure gravity and supergravity in 3D have an interpretation as Chern–Simons theories [5,6], as have their higher-spin generalizations, which in turn led to new toy-models for AdS/CFT [7,8].

In general, a Lie algebra that admits an invariant quadratic form defines a gauge invariant Chern–Simons action for a Yang-Mills gauge field in 3D. In this paper we will show that there is a larger class of algebraic structures that allow for consistent Chern–Simons theories: the Leibniz (or Loday) algebras [9]. They are defined by a 'product' that is not necessarily antisymmetric but satisfies a Jacobi-like identity. In the case that the product is antisymmetric, this identity coincides with the Jacobi identity and hence the algebra reduces to a Lie algebra. Genuine Leibniz algebras do exist, however, and define a gauge invariant Chern–Simons action, provided they admit a quadratic form satisfying suitable invariance conditions. Such algebras and their associated Chern–Simons actions have already appeared in the literature, notably in duality covariant formulations of gauged supergravity (in the 'embedding tensor formalism' [10,11]) and of 11-dimensional or type IIB supergravity (in 'exceptional field theory' [12–14]). In this paper we will discuss Leibniz–Chern–Simons theories from a more abstract point of view that allows us, at least partially, to elevate the analogy between gauged supergravity and exceptional field theory to a technically precise correspondence.

Exceptional field theory (ExFT) is a formulation of the spacetime actions of 11dimensional or type IIB supergravity that is covariant under the U-duality groups  $E_{d(d)}$ , d = 2, ..., 9. To this end, the spacetime is extended, in the spirit of double field theory [15–18], so that the coordinates transform covariantly under  $E_{d(d)}$ , subject to (duality covariant) section constraints. ExFT was developed in [19–21]; see [22–34] for previous and subsequent work. In this paper we will mainly focus on the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT [13], whose bosonic field content consists of a 'dreibein'  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$ , an  $E_{8(8)}$  valued metric  $\mathcal{M}_{MN}, \mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} =$  $1, \ldots, 248$ , and two gauge vectors  $A_{\mu}{}^{M}$ ,  $B_{\mu M}$ . All fields depend on the 248 coordinates  $Y^{M}$  in the adjoint of  $E_{8(8)}$ , subject to the section constraints, and on (unconstrained) external 3D coordinates  $x^{\mu}$ . The theory is invariant under generalized external and internal diffeomorphisms of the  $x^{\mu}$  and  $Y^{M}$ , respectively. The internal diffeomorphism symmetry, when properly formulated, is governed by a Leibniz algebra rather than a Lie algebra. In particular, the vector fields, which act as gauge fields for the generalized internal diffeomorphisms, naturally combine into a Leibniz valued gauge field  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu} \equiv$  $(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}{}^{M}, \mathcal{B}_{\mu M})$ , and enter the action precisely in a Leibniz–Chern–Simons form [14].

As one of our main technical results, we exhibit the close parallel between the Leibniz algebra structures (and their Chern–Simons actions) in gauged supergravity and ExFT by showing that in both frameworks the Leibniz algebras can be obtained by means of the same universal construction using an 'embedding tensor'. Specifically, in gauged supergravity the structure constants of the gauge algebra are defined in terms of a Lie algebra g that encodes the global symmetry of the ungauged theory, and an embedding tensor, which in 3D is a symmetric second rank tensor on the dual space  $g^*$ . Typically, the embedding tensor is degenerate and not invariant under the action of g, which im-

plies that the resulting structure constants in general do *not* define a Lie algebra on  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . They define, however, a Leibniz algebra [35,36]. We will then show that there is a completely analogous construction in ExFT, starting from an 'ungauged phase' that is invariant under significantly enhanced global symmetries. In contrast to the full ExFT, this symmetry is governed by a genuine Lie algebra: the semi-direct sum of the Lie algebra of (infinitesimal) 248-dimensional diffeomorphisms and the current algebra of *Y*-dependent  $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$  transformations. The quadratic invariant of the E<sub>8(8)</sub> generalized diffeomorphisms can then be taken as the embedding tensor, which yields precisely the expected Leibniz algebra.

As a further application of the general framework of Leibniz–Chern–Simons theories, we will show that a certain topological subsector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT can be interpreted as a Chern–Simons theory based on an enlarged Leibniz algebra. This 'topological phase' consists of a (covariantized) 3D Einstein-Hilbert term and topological terms for the gauge vectors. Pure 3D gravity has an interpretation as a Chern–Simons theory based on the Poincaré or (A)dS group [5,6], and we will show here that there is an enlarged Leibniz algebra combining the Poincaré algebra with the algebra of generalized diffeomorphisms, with the former acting on the latter by certain 'anomalous' transformations. We show that this algebra can again be obtained from an infinite-dimensional Lie algebra g and an embedding tensor on g\* that acts as the symmetric invariant of the full Leibniz algebra. The corresponding Chern–Simons action precisely reproduces the topological sector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, and we prove that the resulting gauge transformations are equivalent to those following from [13], as it must be for consistency.

One may view this theory as a 3D Chern–Simons theory with an infinite-dimensional 'gauge group', whose algebra structure is encoded in the *Y*-dependence of all fields and gauge parameters.<sup>1</sup> Accordingly, the theory still encodes genuinely 11-dimensional dynamics (or 10-dimensional dynamics, depending on the solution of the section constraint) and in particular is invariant under 11-dimensional diffeomorphisms, albeit formulated for a '3 + 8 foliation'. While this theory is topological and hence does not describe Einstein (super-)gravity in D = 11, it is part of the full  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT that encodes the complete 11-dimensional supergravity.

Formally, this topological phase is obtained by setting  $\mathcal{M}_{MN} = 0$  in the action and gauge transformations. Of course, this is not strictly legal in that  $\mathcal{M}_{MN}$  was assumed to be  $E_{8(8)}$  valued and hence invertible, but we will show that setting  $\mathcal{M}_{MN} = 0$  does respect all gauge symmetries. Thus, while the resulting theory is not expected to be a consistent truncation (in the technical sense that any solution of the truncated theory can be uplifted to a solution of the full theory) it is nonetheless 'consistent' by itself in that it has as much gauge symmetry as the full theory. In particular, this allows us, for this subsector, to make the external diffeomorphism symmetry manifest, which in the conventional formulation acts in an intricate way and so far could only be verified by tedious computations.

We close with some general remarks. The topological subsector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, for which we here provide a Chern–Simons interpretation, is obtained by truncating the 'physical' degrees of freedom that in 3D are entirely encoded in  $\mathcal{M}_{MN}$ . A natural and certainly legal way to do so would be to set it to a constant invertible matrix, say  $\mathcal{M}_{MN} = \delta_{MN}$ . However, any such choice would break part of the duality symmetry, here from  $E_{8(8)}$  to SO(16), while the topological theory still features the full  $E_{8(8)}$ duality. Thus, this theory appears to be some kind of 'unbroken phase'. While we have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is similar to Vasiliev's higher-spin gravity in 3D, whose higher-spin algebra is defined through the dependence on additional coordinates [37], with a Chern–Simons formulation for the topological sector.

no a priori reason to assume that this theory by itself has some physical role to play within string/M-theory, the fact that it exists and has such a natural Chern–Simons interpretation is certainly intriguing. Regardless of whether the topological sector does or does not make physical sense by itself, it is part of the full  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, and so it would be important to see whether the Leibniz algebra structure also simplifies the 'matter couplings' including  $\mathcal{M}_{MN}$ , a question to which we hope to come back to. We will also show that the large Leibniz algebra can be modified to (A)dS gravity. Again, it would be important to investigate whether this (topological) AdS theory by itself has a physical interpretation within M-theory.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2 we discuss Leibniz algebras and their associated Chern–Simons theories in an 'invariant' (or index-free) formulation that is appropriate for general applications. Section 3 is mainly a review of the Leibniz algebra underlying the internal gauge symmetries of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT. In this we hope to present several results that are scattered through the literature, see [13, 14, 33], in a self-contained fashion. Then we turn in Sect. 4 to one of our main constructions, to show that the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms can be interpreted in terms of a suitably formulated embedding tensor formalism. Finally, in Sect. 5, we define a Leibniz algebra combining (an infinite-dimensional extension of) the 3D Poincaré algebra and the  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. We prove that the resulting Chern–Simons theory is equivalent to the topological subsector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT. We also present a generalization that includes a cosmological constant. Our conclusions and outlook are in Sect. 6, while in the appendix we discuss the extension of the embedding tensor formalism to higher dimensions.

#### 2. Leibniz Algebras and Their Chern–Simons Theories

In this section we give a general discussion of 3D Chern–Simons theories based on Leibniz algebras. In the first subsection we introduce Leibniz algebras and their associated Yang-Mills-like vector gauge fields. In the second subsection we discuss the invariance conditions on a inner product and prove that the corresponding Chern–Simons action is gauge invariant.

2.1. Leibniz algebras and their gauge fields. A Leibniz (or Loday) algebra is a vector space  $X_0$  equipped with a 'product'  $\circ$  satisfying for any vectors x, y, z the Leibniz identity

$$x \circ (y \circ z) = (x \circ y) \circ z + y \circ (x \circ z).$$
(2.1)

If  $x \circ y$  is antisymmetric in x, y, this reduces to the Jacobi identity, and hence the algebra reduces to a Lie algebra. In the following sections we will give examples of genuine Leibniz algebras and thereby go beyond Lie algebras.

An immediate consequence of (2.1) is that the product defines transformations

$$\delta_x y = \mathcal{L}_x y \equiv x \circ y, \tag{2.2}$$

that close and hence generalize the adjoint action of a Lie algebra. (Here we introduced the notation  $\mathcal{L}_x$  of (generalized) Lie derivatives that will be employed later.) To see that (2.2) closes we compute

$$\begin{aligned} [\mathcal{L}_x, \mathcal{L}_y]z &\equiv \mathcal{L}_x(\mathcal{L}_y z) - \mathcal{L}_y(\mathcal{L}_x z) \\ &= x \circ (y \circ z) - y \circ (x \circ z) \\ &= (x \circ y) \circ z \\ &= \mathcal{L}_{x \circ y} z, \end{aligned}$$
(2.3)

using the Leibniz identity (2.1) from the second to the third line. Note that the left-hand side of (2.3) is manifestly antisymmetric in *x*, *y*, but the right-hand side is not. Thus, antisymmetrizing on both sides of the equation we obtain

$$[\mathcal{L}_x, \mathcal{L}_y]z = \mathcal{L}_{[x,y]}z, \qquad (2.4)$$

while symmetrization on both sides yields

$$0 = \mathcal{L}_{\{x,y\}}z,\tag{2.5}$$

where we introduced the symmetrization and antisymmetrization of the product:

$$\{x, y\} \equiv \frac{1}{2}(x \circ y + y \circ x), [x, y] \equiv \frac{1}{2}(x \circ y - y \circ x).$$
 (2.6)

The symmetric bracket  $\{,\}$  measures the failure of the product to define a Lie algebra. Importantly, even the antisymmetric bracket [,] does not define a Lie algebra if  $\{,\}$  is non-vanishing, for then the Jacobi identity is not satisfied. However, the resulting 'Jacobiator' acts trivially according to (2.5).

The subspace U generated by symmetrized products  $\{v, w\}$  forms an ideal<sup>2</sup> which according to (2.5) we will refer to as the ideal of trivial vectors. Thus  $\mathcal{L}_u = 0$ ,  $\forall u \in U$ . In general, the Leibniz algebra may contain further vectors outside of U whose generalized Lie derivative (2.2) on all other vectors vanishes. In the following it will often be convenient to represent this ideal as the image of a linear map  $\mathcal{D} : X_1 \to U$ , where  $X_1$ is a subspace of the symmetric tensor product  $X_0 \otimes_{\text{sym}} X_0$  (which typically corresponds to the space of two-form gauge fields of the theory). Explicitly, this corresponds to a representation of the symmetrized products as

$$\{x, y\} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{D}(x \bullet y), \qquad (2.7)$$

where • denotes a bilinear symmetric pairing  $X_0 \otimes_{sym} X_0 \rightarrow X_1$ . This bilinear map is defined by (2.7) only up to contributions in the kernel of  $\mathcal{D}$ , which has consequences for the tensor hierarchies (or  $L_{\infty}$  algebras) to be discussed momentarily, but it turns out that the related subtleties are immaterial for the 3D constructions in this paper.

After this introductory discussion, our goal is now to develop generalizations of Yang-Mills gauge theories for Leibniz algebras. In the same way that one introduces for gauge groups of Lie type one-forms taking values in the adjoint representation, we now introduce one-forms  $A = A_{\mu} dx^{\mu}$  taking values in the Leibniz algebra, of which we think as the representation space of the generalized adjoint action (2.2). As in Yang-Mills theory we define a gauge transformation w.r.t. to a Leibniz-algebra valued gauge parameters  $\lambda$ :

$$\delta_{\lambda}A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\lambda \equiv \partial_{\mu}\lambda - A_{\mu}\circ\lambda. \tag{2.8}$$

In contrast to conventional Yang-Mills theory, these transformations as such are not quite consistent, because they do not close by themselves. An explicit computation using (2.7) shows

$$[\delta_{\lambda_1}, \delta_{\lambda_2}]A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}[\lambda_2, \lambda_1] + \mathcal{D}(\lambda_{[1} \bullet D_{\mu}\lambda_{2]}).$$
(2.9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The results of [38] then imply that this algebraic structure forms part of an  $L_{\infty}$  algebra [39]. See also [40–42]. We will leave a more detailed discussion of the significance of such algebras in this context for future work.

The first term on the right-hand side takes the form of  $\delta_{12}A_{\mu}$ , with  $\lambda_{12} = [\lambda_2, \lambda_1]$ , but the second term spoils closure. This suggests to postulate a new gauge symmetry with one-form parameter  $\lambda_{\mu}$  (living in the space  $X_1$  in which  $x \bullet y$  takes values):

$$\delta_{\lambda}A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\lambda - \mathcal{D}\lambda_{\mu}, \qquad (2.10)$$

for then we have closure according to  $[\delta_{\lambda_1}, \delta_{\lambda_2}]A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\lambda_{12} - D\lambda_{12\mu}$ , where

$$\lambda_{12} = [\lambda_2, \lambda_1], \qquad \lambda_{12\mu} = \lambda_{[2} \bullet D_{\mu} \lambda_{1]}. \tag{2.11}$$

The one-form gauge symmetry is also needed in order for exact parameters  $\lambda = Da$  to yield trivial transformations. Indeed, from (2.10) it then follows that  $\delta A_{\mu} = 0$  for  $\lambda_{\mu} = D_{\mu}a$ . More precisely, here we have to assume that the space in which  $\lambda_{\mu}$  lives is a representation space of the Leibniz algebra, so that there is a well-defined action of  $\mathcal{L}$  and hence a notion of covariant derivative, and that  $\mathcal{D}$  is 'covariant' in that it commutes with generalized Lie derivatives. This is satisfied for all explicit examples.

The new one-form gauge parameter can be associated to a new two-form gauge potential  $B_{\mu\nu}$  taking values in the same space. Indeed, in order to define a gauge-covariant field strength such a two-form is needed, because the naive Yang-Mills field strength for  $A_{\mu}$  in terms of the antisymmetric bracket [, ] in (2.6) is not gauge covariant. Again, the failure of covariance is  $\mathcal{D}$  exact, and so can be fixed by setting

$$\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu} - [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}] + \mathcal{D}B_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.12)$$

and postulating appropriate gauge transformations for  $B_{\mu\nu}$ . One may then define a gauge covariant field strength for  $B_{\mu\nu}$ , which in turn requires three-forms. This construction, which in general proceeds to higher and higher forms, is referred to as 'tensor hierarchy' [43]. In this paper we will focus on 3D, and it turns out that the two- and higher forms are not needed in order to write a gauge invariant action. Thus, we will not further develop the tensor hierarchy, and leave a more general discussion of tensor hierarchies for Leibniz algebras to future work.

2.2. Invariant inner product and Chern–Simons action. We now turn to the construction of gauge invariant Chern–Simons actions, for which we need an inner product satisfying suitable invariance conditions. Thus, we assume the existence of a symmetric bilinear (but not necessarily non-degenerate) quadratic form, i.e., a mapping of two vectors x, y of the Leibniz algebra to a number  $\langle x, y \rangle$ , satisfying  $\delta_z \langle x, y \rangle = 0$  or

$$\langle z \circ x, y \rangle + \langle x, z \circ y \rangle = 0, \qquad (2.13)$$

for arbitrary x, y, z. This property is analogous to that of invariant quadratic forms of Lie algebras. It turns out that we need in addition a 'higher' invariance condition, corresponding to the need discussed above to introduce higher-form symmetries. Specifically, we need to impose

$$\langle x, U \rangle = 0, \tag{2.14}$$

for arbitrary vectors x in the Leibniz algebra and the ideal U of trivial vectors. Indeed, we can think of this condition as an invariance condition under the 'gauge transformation'  $x \rightarrow x + Da$ , as in (2.10). (More precisely, this would be the invariance condition of  $\langle x, x \rangle$ , but by polarization this implies the invariance of the bilinear form in general.) Note that (2.14) implies that for non-trivial D (i.e., for non-trivial  $\{,\}$  or genuine Leibniz algebras) the bilinear form is degenerate.

Let us next specialize to 3D and define a Chern–Simons action for Leibniz valued gauge vectors  $A_{\mu}$ . Using the inner product, we can write

$$S = \int d^3x \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left\langle A_{\mu}, \, \partial_{\nu}A_{\rho} - \frac{1}{3}A_{\nu} \circ A_{\rho} \right\rangle, \tag{2.15}$$

where we denote by  $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}$  the constant Levi-Civita symbol defining a tensor density. Thus, this action is manifestly invariant under 3D diffeomorphisms and is topological.

In order to prove the gauge invariance of this action under (2.10), it is convenient to first determine its variation under arbitrary  $\delta A$ . We compute

$$\delta_{A}S = \int d^{3}x \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left( \left\langle \delta A_{\mu}, 2 \, \partial_{\nu}A_{\rho} \right\rangle - \frac{1}{3} \left\langle \delta A_{\mu}, A_{\nu} \circ A_{\rho} \right\rangle \right. \\ \left. + \frac{2}{3} \left\langle A_{\rho}, A_{\nu} \circ \delta A_{\mu} \right\rangle + \frac{2}{3} \left\langle A_{\mu}, \left\{ A_{\nu}, \delta A_{\rho} \right\} \right\rangle \right)$$

$$= \int d^{3}x \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left( \left\langle \delta A_{\mu}, 2 \, \partial_{\nu}A_{\rho} - A_{\nu} \circ A_{\rho} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{3} \left\langle A_{\mu}, \mathcal{D}(A_{\nu} \bullet \delta A_{\rho}) \right\rangle \right),$$

$$(2.16)$$

where we discarded a total derivative, used the invariance condition (2.13), and (2.7). We now observe that the final term in here vanishes by the 'higher' invariance condition (2.14). Moreover, for the same reason, we can add the two-form term in (2.12) to the first term to write the final result in the manifestly covariant form

$$\delta_A S = \int d^3 x \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left\langle \delta A_{\mu}, \mathcal{F}_{\nu\rho} \right\rangle. \tag{2.17}$$

At this point it is important to recall that the bilinear form in general is degenerate, so this relation does not imply that the field equations are  $\mathcal{F} = 0$ . The field equations only imply that a suitable projection of the field strength vanishes.

It is now easy to verify gauge invariance under  $\delta A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\lambda$ . Inserting this transformation into (2.17) and integrating by parts, we need to compute  $D_{[\mu}\mathcal{F}_{\nu\rho]}$ . In contrast to Lie algebras, this *is not* zero in general, but the failure of the naive Bianchi identity is necessarily writable in terms of {, } and thus, by (2.7), is  $\mathcal{D}$  exact. It then follows with (2.14) that the action is invariant. Similarly, by (2.14), the Chern–Simons action is invariant under the gauge transformations associated to the two-form,  $\delta A_{\mu} = -\mathcal{D}\lambda_{\mu}$ , despite the two-form not entering the Chern–Simons action. Summarizing, we have shown that any Leibniz algebra that admits a quadratic form satisfying the invariance conditions (2.13) and (2.14) defines a gauge invariant Chern–Simons action in 3D.

#### 3. Leibniz Algebra of E<sub>8(8)</sub> Generalized Diffeomorphisms

In this section we review the gauge structure of internal generalized diffeomorphisms of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT and show that they can be interpreted as a Leibniz algebra with invariant quadratic form, for which the corresponding Chern–Simons action precisely yields the topological terms for the gauge vectors of  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT.

We begin by recalling a few generalities of  $E_{8(8)}$  and the associated generalized Lie derivatives. The Lie algebra  $e_{8(8)}$  is 248-dimensional, with generators  $(t^M)^N = -f^{MN}K$  and structure constants  $f^{MN}K$ , where M, N = 1, ..., 248 are adjoint indices. The maximal compact subgroup is SO(16), under which the adjoint representation decomposes as  $248 \rightarrow 120 \oplus 128$ . The invariant Cartan-Killing form is defined by  $\eta^{MN} = \frac{1}{60} f^{MK}{}_L f^{NL}{}_K$ , which we freely use to raise and lower adjoint indices. We next need some properties of the tensor product **248**  $\otimes$  **248**, which decomposes as

$$\mathbf{248} \otimes \mathbf{248} \rightarrow \mathbf{1} \oplus \mathbf{248} \oplus \mathbf{3875} \oplus \mathbf{27000} \oplus \mathbf{30380}. \tag{3.1}$$

It contains the adjoint 248, and the corresponding projector is given by:

$$\mathbb{P}^{M}{}_{N}{}^{K}{}_{L} = \frac{1}{60} f^{M}{}_{NP} f^{PK}{}_{L}$$
  
=  $\frac{1}{30} \delta^{M}_{(N} \delta^{K}_{L)} - \frac{7}{30} (\mathbb{P}_{3875})^{MK}{}_{NL} - \frac{1}{240} \eta^{MK} \eta_{NL} + \frac{1}{120} f^{MK}{}_{P} f^{P}{}_{NL},$   
(3.2)

while the projector onto the 3875 reads

$$(\mathbb{P}_{3875})^{MK}{}_{NL} = \frac{1}{7} \,\delta^{M}_{(N} \,\delta^{K}_{L)} - \frac{1}{56} \,\eta^{MK} \,\eta_{NL} - \frac{1}{14} \,f^{P}{}_{N}{}^{(M} \,f_{PL}{}^{K)}. \tag{3.3}$$

We next introduce functions or fields depending on coordinates  $Y^M$  living in the adjoint representation, subject to the  $E_{8(8)}$  covariant 'section constraints'

$$\eta^{MN}\partial_M \otimes \partial_N = 0, \quad f^{MNK}\partial_N \otimes \partial_K = 0, \quad (\mathbb{P}_{3875})_{MN}{}^{KL}\partial_K \otimes \partial_L = 0.$$
(3.4)

This constraint is to be interpreted in the sense that for any two fields (or gauge parameters) A, B we have  $\eta^{MN} \partial_M \partial_N A = \eta^{MN} \partial_M A \partial_N B = 0$ , and similarly for the other conditions in (3.4). These constraints are necessary in order to define consistent generalized Lie derivatives, to which we turn now. The generalized Lie derivative is defined with respect to two gauge parameters  $\Lambda^M$ ,  $\Sigma_M$ , and acts on an adjoint vector  $V^M$  (which may carry an intrinsic density weight  $\lambda$ ) as

$$\mathcal{L}_{(\Lambda,\Sigma)}^{[\lambda]} V^{M} = \Lambda^{N} \partial_{N} V^{M} + f^{M}{}_{NK} R^{N} V^{K} + \lambda \partial_{N} \Lambda^{N} V^{M}, \qquad (3.5)$$

where we defined

$$R^M \equiv f^{MN}{}_K \partial_N \Lambda^K + \Sigma^M. \tag{3.6}$$

It is important that the gauge parameter  $\Sigma_M$  is not arbitrary, for otherwise we could simply absorb the  $\Lambda$ -dependent terms in (3.6) into a redefinition of  $\Sigma$ . Rather,  $\Sigma$  is 'covariantly constrained' in the sense that it is subject to the same 'sections constraints' (3.4) as the partial derivatives. Specifically, (3.4) holds for any two factors being partial derivatives or covariantly constrained, e.g.,

$$\eta^{MN}\partial_M \otimes \Sigma_N = 0, \quad f^{MNK}\partial_N \otimes \Sigma_K = 0, \quad (\mathbb{P}_{3875})_{MN}{}^{KL}\partial_K \otimes \Sigma_L = 0.$$
(3.7)

As a consequence of these section constraints, we have 'trivial' gauge parameters, i.e., gauge parameters that do not generate transformations on fields. These include parameters of the form

$$\Lambda^{M} = \eta^{MN} \Omega_{N},$$

$$\Lambda^{M} = (\mathbb{P}_{3875})^{MK}{}_{NL} \partial_{K} \chi^{NL},$$

$$\Lambda^{M} = f^{MN}{}_{K} \Omega_{N}{}^{K}, \qquad \Sigma_{M} = \partial_{M} \Omega_{N}{}^{N} + \partial_{N} \Omega_{M}{}^{N},$$
(3.8)

where  $\Omega_M$  is covariantly constrained, and  $\Omega_M{}^N$  is covariantly constrained in the first index.

Let us now turn to the gauge structure, which will be governed by a Leibniz algebra. In order to uncover this algebraic structure it is instrumental to group the two gauge parameters into the 'doubled' object

$$\Upsilon = \left(\Lambda^M, \Sigma_M\right),\tag{3.9}$$

so that the second component is a covariantly constrained object. We now define the product

$$\Upsilon_1 \circ \Upsilon_2 \equiv \left( \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_1}^{[1]} \Lambda_2^M, \ \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_1}^{[0]} \Sigma_{2M} + \Lambda_2^N \partial_M R_N(\Upsilon_1) \right), \tag{3.10}$$

where the Lie derivatives act as in (3.5), with the density weights indicated in square parenthesis, and  $R(\Upsilon)$  is defined by (3.6). The (generalized) Lie derivative terms represent the naive 'covariant' action on  $\Upsilon = (\Lambda, \Sigma)$ , but the 'anomalous' term containing  $\partial_M R_N$  is crucial for the following.

In order to prove that this indeed defines a Leibniz algebra it is convenient to use the product (3.10) to define a generalized Lie derivative on a 'doubled vector' A, with components of the same type as (3.9), as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon}\mathcal{A} \equiv \Upsilon \circ \mathcal{A}. \tag{3.11}$$

The Leibniz algebra relation is then equivalent to the closure condition

$$\left[\mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{1}},\mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{2}}\right]\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}_{\left[\Upsilon_{1},\Upsilon_{2}\right]}\mathcal{A}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where the bracket [, ] is the antisymmetrization of the Leibniz algebra (3.10), c.f. (2.6). The equivalence of the above closure condition to the Leibniz algebra relation follows as in (2.3). The proof of (3.12) proceeds by an explicit computation. We do not display this computation, apart from noting the useful relations

$$R_M([\Upsilon_1,\Upsilon_2]) = 2\Lambda_{[1}{}^N\partial_N R_M(\Upsilon_{2]}) + f_{MNK}R^N(\Upsilon_1)R^K(\Upsilon_2), \qquad (3.13)$$

which is sufficient for proving closure of (3.5), and

$$\partial_M R_N([\Upsilon_1, \Upsilon_2]) = \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_1}^{[-1]} \big( \partial_M R_N(\Upsilon_2) \big) - \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_2}^{[-1]} \big( \partial_M R_N(\Upsilon_1) \big), \tag{3.14}$$

which can be verified by taking the derivative of (3.13) and using the Lemma (2.13) of [13]. For more details we refer to Appendix A in [14].

According to the general scheme discussed in Sect. 2, the symmetrization of the Leibniz product (3.10) is by construction 'trivial'. As a consistency check, this can be verified with an explicit computation:

$$\{\Upsilon_1,\Upsilon_2\} = \left(7(\mathbb{P}_{3875})^{MK}{}_{NL}\partial_K\left(\Lambda_1^N\Lambda_2^L\right) + \frac{1}{8}\partial^M\left(\Lambda_1^N\Lambda_{2N}\right) + f^{MN}{}_K\Omega_N{}^K, \\ \partial_M\Omega_N{}^N + \partial_N\Omega_M{}^N\right),$$
(3.15)

where

$$\Omega_M{}^N = \Lambda_{(1}{}^N \Sigma_{2)M} - \frac{1}{2} f^N{}_{KL} \Lambda_{(1}{}^K \partial_M \Lambda_{2)}{}^L.$$
(3.16)

This is indeed of the 'trivial' form (3.8), in particular,  $\Omega_M{}^N$  defined here is manifestly covariantly constrained in the first index, which is carried by either  $\Sigma_M$  or  $\partial_M$ . We

can further spell out the decomposition (2.7) for the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra, defining the bilinear operation  $\Upsilon_1 \bullet \Upsilon_2$  by stripping off the derivatives in (3.15) (and multiplying by an overall factor of 2). The vector space  $X_1$  in which  $\bullet$  takes values thus decomposes into different subspaces, corresponding to the different terms in (3.15), and to the two-form gauge fields in the theory, c.f. [13]. Finally, the operator  $\mathcal{D}$  acts differently on these subspaces, its action being defined by the derivatives in (3.15) (and the inclusion map for covariantly constrained terms).

Let us now turn to the definition of an invariant quadratic form on the Leibniz algebra. For doubled, Leibniz valued fields  $\mathcal{A} = (A^M, B_M)$  it is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \rangle \equiv \int d^{248} Y \left( 2A_{(1}{}^M B_{2)M} - f^M{}_{NK} A_{(1}{}^N \partial_M A_{2)}{}^K \right).$$
 (3.17)

The invariance condition (2.13) is equivalent to the statement that this integral is invariant under the variations (3.11), which one may verify by an explicit computation. In particular, both terms carry density weight one and thus vary into a total derivative that vanishes under the integral, up to 'anomalous' contributions originating in the first term from the anomalous transformations of *B* and in the second term from the non-covariance of partial derivatives. An explicit computation shows that these anomalous terms precisely cancel. (See Appendix A in [14] for more details.) Discarding total derivatives, the bilinear form can also be written as

$$\langle \mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \rangle \equiv \int d^{248} Y (A_1^M B_{2M} + A_2^M B_{1M} - f^M{}_{NK} A_1^N \partial_M A_2^K), \quad (3.18)$$

and consequently, in terms of  $R_M$  defined in (3.6), as

$$\langle \mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2 \rangle \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^{248} Y \big( A_1^{\ M} R_M(\mathcal{A}_2) + A_2^{\ M} B_{1M} \big). \tag{3.19}$$

This form is convenient in order to establish the second invariance condition (2.14) in the form

$$\mathcal{T} \text{ trivial} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \langle \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{T} \rangle = 0 \quad \forall \mathcal{A}.$$
 (3.20)

This follows because for trivial  $\mathcal{T}$  we have  $R_M(\mathcal{T}) = 0$ , as one may quickly verify, and the contraction of the first component of a trivial  $\mathcal{T}$  with a covariantly constrained  $B_M$  vanishes.

Having established the Leibniz algebra relations and the existence of an invariant quadratic form, we can now define a Chern–Simons action for Leibniz algebra valued gauge vectors

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mu} = (A_{\mu}{}^{M}, B_{\mu M}). \tag{3.21}$$

Their gauge transformations are given by (2.8) w.r.t. an algebra valued gauge parameter  $\Upsilon = (\Lambda^M, \Sigma_M)$ . In components these are determined with (3.10) to be

$$\delta A_{\mu}{}^{M} = D_{\mu} \Lambda^{M},$$
  

$$\delta B_{\mu M} = D_{\mu} \Sigma_{M} - \Lambda^{N} \partial_{M} R_{N}(\mathcal{A}_{\mu}),$$
(3.22)

where here and in the following we use the covariant derivative

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - \mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{A}_{\mu}}. \tag{3.23}$$

The associated field strengths  $\mathcal{F}_{\mu\nu} = (F_{\mu\nu}{}^M, G_{\mu\nu M})$  for (3.21) can be defined as usual through the commutator of covariant derivatives,

$$[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] = -\mathcal{L}_{(F_{\mu\nu}, G_{\mu\nu})}, \qquad (3.24)$$

up to trivial contributions. Evaluating the Chern–Simons action (2.15) for  $A_{\mu}$  and the Leibniz algebra (3.10), using the invariant inner product (3.17), yields

$$S_{\rm CS} = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Y \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left( F_{\mu\nu}{}^M B_{\rho M} - f_{KL}{}^N \partial_\mu A_\nu{}^K \partial_N A_\rho{}^L - \frac{2}{3} \, f^N{}_{KL} \partial_M \partial_N A_\mu{}^K A_\nu{}^M A_\rho{}^L - \frac{1}{3} \, f_{MKL} f^{KP}{}_Q f^{LR}{}_S A_\mu{}^M \partial_P A_\nu{}^Q \partial_R A_\rho{}^S \right).$$
(3.25)

Here,  $F_{\mu\nu}{}^M$  denotes the components of the field strength defined as in (2.12) (which we may or may not take to include 2-forms, as these drop out upon contraction with  $B_{\rho M}$ ). We record for later use the general variation of the action w.r.t.  $\delta A$ ,  $\delta B$ :

$$\delta S_{\rm CS} = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Y \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \left( \delta A_{\mu}{}^M \left( G_{\nu\rho M} + f_M{}^N{}_K \partial_N F_{\nu\rho}{}^K \right) + \delta B_{\mu M} F_{\nu\rho}{}^M \right), \tag{3.26}$$

which immediately follows from (2.17) and (3.18). The above action coincides with the topological action given for the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT in [13], and we have thus shown that that term has an interpretation as a Leibniz–Chern–Simons theory.

#### 4. Embedding Tensor and Ungauged Phase

The goal of this section is, first, to show how the embedding tensor of gauged supergravity defines a Leibniz algebra in terms of the global symmetry (Lie) algebra of ungauged supergravity and, second, to show that there is an analogous construction for  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. Specifically, we give an (infinite-dimensional) Lie algebra containing 248-dimensional diffeomorphisms and  $E_{8(8)}$  rotations whose coadjoint action defines, in terms of the bilinear form of the previous section, the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms.

4.1. Review of embedding tensor. We begin by reviewing gauged supergravity in the embedding tensor formulation [10, 11, 44]. The embedding tensor  $\Theta_M{}^{\alpha}$  is a tensor under some duality group G, which is the global symmetry of the ungauged theory. This tensor encodes the subgroup of G that is gauged. Specifically, one defines the 'structure constants'

$$X_{MN}{}^{K} = \Theta_{M}{}^{\alpha}(t_{\alpha})_{N}{}^{K} \equiv X_{[MN]}{}^{K} + Z^{K}{}_{MN}, \qquad (4.1)$$

where indices  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,... label the adjoint of G, and indices M, N,... label a representation (typically thought of as the 'fundamental' representation), and  $(t_{\alpha})_N{}^K$  are the generators in this representation. This representation is the G-representation in which the vector fields  $A_{\mu}{}^M$  of the ungauged theory transform, so that the covariant derivatives of the gauged theory can be written as  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - A_{\mu}{}^M \Theta_M{}^{\alpha} t_{\alpha}$ . Similarly, all other couplings of gauged supergravity can be written in terms of the embedding tensor  $\Theta_M{}^{\alpha}$ .

To identify the Leibniz algebra in this formalism, note that  $X_{MN}{}^{K}$  in (4.1) is not necessarily antisymmetric, and in the last equality we have decomposed it into its symmetric and antisymmetric part. Defining matrices with components  $(X_M)_N{}^K = X_{MN}{}^K$ , one now imposes the 'closure constraint' or 'quadratic constraint' for the commutator

$$[X_M, X_N] = -X_{MN}{}^K X_K. (4.2)$$

This defines a Leibniz algebra [36]: writing for two vectors with components  $V^M$ ,  $W^M$ ,

$$(V \circ W)^M \equiv X_{NK}{}^M V^N W^K, \tag{4.3}$$

the closure constraint (4.2) is equivalent to the Leibniz algebra relation

$$U \circ (V \circ W) - V \circ (U \circ W) = (U \circ V) \circ W.$$
(4.4)

We can infer from (4.2), by symmetrizing on both sides of the equation,

$$Z^{K}{}_{MN} X_{K} = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad Z^{K}{}_{MN} \Theta_{K}{}^{\alpha} = 0, \tag{4.5}$$

where we used the non-degeneracy of the Cartan-Killing form  $\kappa_{\alpha\beta} \propto (t_{\alpha})_N{}^K (t_{\beta})_K{}^N$  to infer the second equation. In the above notation we have

$$\{V, W\}^{M} = Z^{M}{}_{NK}V^{N}W^{K}. (4.6)$$

The tensor  $Z^{M}_{NK}$  typically decomposes into [43]

$$Z^M{}_{NK} = \mathcal{D}^{M,I} d_{I,NK}, \qquad (4.7)$$

with the index *I* running over the space  $X_1$  of two-form gauge potentials. The above decomposition (2.7) then corresponds to maps

$$(V \bullet W)_I = 2 d_{I,MN} V^M W^N, \qquad (\mathcal{D}U)^M = \mathcal{D}^{M,I} U_I. \tag{4.8}$$

We now specialize to 3D. In this case the fundamental *G*-representation in which vector fields are transforming is given by the coadjoint representation. This follows because vector fields are introduced as duals to the Noether currents of the global symmetry group *G* of the ungauged theory. Expanding a local *G* transformation as  $\Lambda_M(x) t^M$  in terms of generators  $t^M$ , the Noether currents are obtained by the corresponding variation of the Lagrangian into  $\delta \mathcal{L} = \partial_{\mu} \Lambda_M J^{\mu M}$ . Defining the vector field strengths through  $F_{\mu\nu}{}^M = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho} J^{\rho M}$ , we finally learn that vector fields  $A_{\mu}{}^M$  transform in the coadjoint representation of *G*. (Of course for the finite-dimensional groups appearing in gauged supergravity, the adjoint and coadjoint representation are typically equivalent.) As a result, the embedding tensor takes the form  $\Theta_{MN}$ , with covariant derivatives  $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - A_{\mu}{}^M \Theta_{MN} t^N$ , for which (4.1) reduces to

$$X_{MN}{}^K \equiv \Theta_{ML} f^{LK}{}_N, \tag{4.9}$$

with  $Z^{K}{}_{MN} = \Theta_{L(M} f^{LK}{}_{N)}$ . Moreover, the embedding tensor  $\Theta_{MN}$  is taken to be symmetric as it serves to define the Chern–Simons coupling of the vector fields, see (4.13) below. We can thus define the symmetric inner product

$$\langle V, W \rangle \equiv \Theta_{MN} V^M W^N. \tag{4.10}$$

It satisfies the invariance condition:

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \xi \circ V, V \rangle &= \Theta_{MN} (X_{KL}{}^M \xi^K V^L) V^N = \Theta_{MN} \Theta_{KP} f^{PM}{}_L \xi^K V^L V^N \\ &= \Theta_{KP} Z^P{}_{NL} \xi^K V^L V^N = 0, \end{aligned}$$
(4.11)

where we used (4.5) in the last step. This proves that  $\langle V, V \rangle$  is invariant, and by polarization this implies invariance of the bilinear form in general. Similarly, if any argument is of the form  $Z^{M}{}_{NK}U^{NK}$  the inner product vanishes as a consequence of (4.5), thereby implying the higher invariance condition (2.14). Conversely, invariance of  $\Theta_{MN}$  implies the Leibniz relations, which can be seen by contracting

$$\delta_K \Theta_{MN} \equiv X_{KM}{}^L \Theta_{LN} + X_{KN}{}^L \Theta_{ML} = 0 \tag{4.12}$$

with  $f^{NP}O$  and using the Jacobi identity in the second term.

We can write the Chern–Simons action (2.15) in this formalism, using (4.3) and (4.10),

$$S = \int d^3x \, \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \, \Theta_{MN} A_{\mu}{}^M \left( \partial_{\nu} A_{\rho}{}^N - \frac{1}{3} X_{KL}{}^N A_{\nu}{}^K A_{\rho}{}^L \right), \tag{4.13}$$

which is the form of the Chern–Simons action in gauged supergravity. We have thus shown that the embedding tensor formalism for 3D gauged supergravity is a special case of the Leibniz–Chern–Simons theories introduced above in an 'invariant' or 'index-free' fashion. This index-free formulation is greatly advantageous for the applications in previous and subsequent sections, where the algebras are governed by differential operators and hence are infinite-dimensional, so that an index notation would obscure much of the underlying generalized geometric structure.

4.2. Leibniz algebras via coadjoint action of Lie algebras. Our next goal is to rewrite gauged supergravity relations such as (4.9) in an invariant or index-free language, which will be instrumental below for the infinite-dimensional generalizations based on function spaces. To this end we will have to carefully distinguish between the Lie algebra g of G and its dual space  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ , since in the infinite-dimensional context there will be no invariant metric to identify these spaces. We will follow the convention that adjoint vectors, i.e., elements in g, are denoted by small latin or greek letters. (Moreover, a vector or covector is typically denoted by a greek letter if it plays the role of a symmetry parameter.) We expand vectors and covectors w.r.t. bases as  $v = v_M t^M$  and  $A = A^M \tilde{t}_M$ , respectively, where  $t^M$  is a basis of g, satisfying  $[t^M, t^N] = f^{MN}_K t^K$ , and  $\tilde{t}_M$  is the dual basis. The pairing  $\mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{R}$  then reads

$$A(v) \equiv A^M v_M. \tag{4.14}$$

The adjoint representation is defined, for  $\zeta$ ,  $v \in \mathfrak{g}$ , by

$$\delta_{\zeta} v = \mathrm{ad}_{\zeta} v = [\zeta, v]. \tag{4.15}$$

We will use the notation  $\delta_{\zeta}$  for general variations w.r.t. a vector  $\zeta$ , but it turns out to be beneficial to also introduce notations such as  $ad_{\zeta}$  if the specific representation needs to be made explicit. In order to define the coadjoint representation we have to specify how  $\zeta \in \mathfrak{g}$  acts on a coadjoint vector  $A \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  to yield a new coadjoint vector  $\delta_{\zeta} A$ . As the latter is defined by its action on an adjoint vector  $v \in \mathfrak{g}$ , we can define

$$(\delta_{\zeta} A)(v) = (\mathrm{ad}_{\zeta}^* A)(v) = -A([\zeta, v]).$$
(4.16)

An immediate consequence is that for any pair of adjoint vectors  $v, w \in g$ 

$$(\mathrm{ad}_{v}^{*}A)(w) = -(\mathrm{ad}_{w}^{*}A)(v).$$
 (4.17)

The sign in the definition (4.16) is such that the pairing (4.14) is invariant:

$$\delta_{\zeta}(A(v)) \equiv (\delta_{\zeta}A)(v) + A(\delta_{\zeta}v) = 0.$$
(4.18)

W.r.t. a basis, the coadjoint action is given by  $(ad_{\zeta}^*A)^M = f^{MN}{}_K \zeta_N A^K$ .

Let us now return to the gauged supergravity relation (4.9), defining the Leibniz algebra structure on  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  in terms of the embedding tensor. Contraction with two coadjoint vectors and one adjoint vector yields

$$A^{M}B^{N}X_{MN}{}^{K}v_{K} = A^{M}\Theta_{ML}f^{LK}{}_{N}v_{K}B^{N} = A^{M}\Theta_{ML}(\mathrm{ad}_{v}^{*}B)^{L}.$$
(4.19)

Here we recognized in the last equality the coadjoint action of v on B. In order to rewrite this equation in invariant language we recall that the structure constants X on the left-hand side define the Leibniz algebra according to (4.3). The right-hand side suggests to identify the embedding tensor  $\Theta$  with a map

$$\vartheta : \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}, \quad \vartheta(\tilde{t}_M) = -\Theta_{MN} t^N,$$
(4.20)

such that (4.19) takes the form

$$(A \circ B)(v) = -A(\vartheta(\mathrm{ad}_v^*B)) = -(\mathrm{ad}_v^*B)(\vartheta(A)), \qquad (4.21)$$

using the pairing (4.14) between vectors and coadjoint vectors and the symmetry of  $\Theta$  in the second equality. Using (4.17) we may further rewrite the last term as

$$-\left(\operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}B\right)(\vartheta(A)) = \left(\operatorname{ad}_{\vartheta(A)}^{*}B\right)(v).$$
(4.22)

This shows that the Leibniz product is directly given by

$$A \circ B \equiv \operatorname{ad}_{\vartheta(A)}^* B, \tag{4.23}$$

using the coadjoint action (4.16) w.r.t.  $\vartheta(A) \in \mathfrak{g}$ . In particular, we can rewrite the generalized Lie derivative w.r.t.  $\Lambda \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  defined as in Sect. 2 as

$$\delta_{\Lambda}A \equiv \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}A \equiv \mathrm{ad}^*_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}A. \tag{4.24}$$

We next observe that the map defined in (4.20) canonically induces a bilinear form on the dual space,

$$\Theta: \mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{R}, \tag{4.25}$$

by the relation

$$\Theta(A, B) = -A(\vartheta(B)). \tag{4.26}$$

The fact that  $\Theta$  is typically degenerate means that  $\vartheta$  is not invertible: in general there is no map  $\mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ . Put differently, if for all *A* we have  $A(\vartheta(B)) = 0$  then  $\vartheta(B) = 0$ , but we cannot conclude that B = 0. In terms of  $\Theta$ , we can now equivalently rewrite (4.19) as

$$(A \circ B)(v) = \Theta(A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*} B).$$

$$(4.27)$$

In the remainder of this subsection we will prove, within this invariant formulation, that the Leibniz algebra relations follow from the invariance of  $\Theta$  under the gauge transformations defined by  $\Theta$  itself via (4.27). Starting from the invariance condition on  $\Theta$ , i.e., that for all  $A, B, \Lambda \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ 

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\Theta(A,B) \equiv \Theta(\Lambda \circ A, B) + \Theta(A, \Lambda \circ B) = 0, \qquad (4.28)$$

we first prove invariance of the pairing  $(A \circ B)(v)$  with (4.27):

$$\delta_{\Lambda}((A \circ B)(v)) = \Theta(\Lambda \circ A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}B) + \Theta(A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}(\Lambda \circ B) + \operatorname{ad}_{\operatorname{ad}_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}^{v}}^{*}B)$$
  

$$= \Theta(\Lambda \circ A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}B) + \Theta(A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}(\operatorname{ad}_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}^{*}B) + \operatorname{ad}_{[\vartheta(\Lambda), v]}^{*}B)$$
  

$$= \Theta(\Lambda \circ A, \operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}B) + \Theta(A, \Lambda \circ (\operatorname{ad}_{v}^{*}B))$$
  

$$= 0.$$
(4.29)

Here we used, from the second to the third line, that the coadjoint action satisfies the Lie algebra relation, and we used the invariance (4.28) in the last step. On the other hand, we can also write out the left-hand side of (4.29) directly to obtain

$$0 = ((\Lambda \circ A) \circ B)(v) + (A \circ (\Lambda \circ B))(v) + (A \circ B)(\mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}v).$$
(4.30)

The last term here can be written with (4.18) as

$$(A \circ B)(\mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}v) = -(\mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\Lambda)}^*(A \circ B))(v) = -(\Lambda \circ (A \circ B))(v).$$
(4.31)

Back-substitution in (4.30) shows that the Leibniz relations hold upon pairing with v. This holds for arbitrary v, which is sufficient to prove the Leibniz relations since

$$\forall v : A(v) = 0 \implies A = 0. \tag{4.32}$$

Can one also prove the converse, that the Leibniz relations imply invariance of  $\Theta$ ? This is possible, but only under the assumption that the Lie algebra g has trivial center. We first note that the Leibniz relations imply, as in Sect. 2, that the above generalized Lie derivative acts trivially if the parameter equals a symmetrized bracket, c.f. (2.5):

$$\forall A : 0 = \mathcal{L}_{\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\}} A = \mathrm{ad}^*_{\vartheta(\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\})} A \quad \Rightarrow \quad \forall v : \mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\})} v = 0,$$

$$(4.33)$$

where the inference follows by pairing the first equation with  $v \in g$ , using (4.18) and the property

$$\forall A : A(v) = 0 \implies v = 0. \tag{4.34}$$

The last equation in (4.33) means  $[\vartheta(\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\}), v] = 0$  for all v, such that the vanishing center of g implies that

$$\vartheta(\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\}) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \Theta(A, \{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2\}) = 0, \tag{4.35}$$

where the last inference follows upon pairing with  $A \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  and using (4.26). Under this assumption we can now prove invariance of  $\Theta$ :

$$\delta_{\Lambda}\Theta(A, A) = 2\Theta(\Lambda \circ A, A) = -2(\Lambda \circ A)(\vartheta(A))$$
  
=  $-2\Theta(\Lambda, \operatorname{ad}^*_{\vartheta(A)}A) = -2\Theta(\Lambda, \{A, A\}) = 0,$  (4.36)

where we used (4.27) in the third equality and (4.35) in the last equality.

4.3.  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms and the ungauged phase. Our goal is to identify a Lie algebra from which the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms can be derived by means of a suitable embedding tensor. In gauged supergravity, this Lie algebra is the global symmetry of the ungauged limit, in which the embedding tensor is set to zero. Specifically, this limit removes the connection terms insides covariant derivatives, reducing them to partial derivatives, and also eliminates the potential and Chern–Simons term. We will now try to identify a similar 'phase' of ExFT by setting to zero the analogous terms of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT action, which yields

$$S = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Ye \left( R + \frac{1}{240} \, \partial^{\mu} \mathcal{M}^{MN} \, \partial_{\mu} \mathcal{M}_{MN} \right). \tag{4.37}$$

Here *R* is the familiar 3D Einstein-Hilbert term, without any further covariantizations. We note that while all fields depend on *x* and *Y*, no *Y*-derivatives  $\partial_M$  have been kept. In a sense, the different Fourier modes of the fields have been decoupled, and we will see in a moment that this leads to a significant symmetry enhancement.

This unusual looking theory is actually completely analogous to that obtained from conventional (super-)gravity by compactifying, say, on a torus but *without* truncation and then taking the 'decompactification limit'. To make this point more transparent consider the Fourier expansion of a generic field on a torus  $T^d$ ,

$$\phi(x, y) = \sum_{\mathbf{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \varphi_{\mathbf{k}}(x) \exp\left(i\frac{\mathbf{k} \cdot y}{R}\right), \tag{4.38}$$

with torus coordinates  $y \cong y + 2\pi R$ , where we restored the radius *R* (that for simplicity we take to be equal for all radii). The covariant derivatives emerging in Kaluza–Klein on a torus then take the schematic form

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - A_{\mu}{}^{m}\partial_{m} + \cdots \qquad \Rightarrow \qquad D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{R}\sum_{\mathbf{k}}i A_{\mu} \cdot \mathbf{k} + \cdots, \quad (4.39)$$

where  $\partial_m = \frac{\partial}{\partial y^m}$  are the internal derivatives. We observe that the inverse radius  $\frac{1}{R}$  (or, equivalently, the Kaluza–Klein mass scale) acts as the coupling constant of the gauging. Thus, taking the 'decompactification' or 'zero mass' limit  $R \to \infty$  equals the ungauged limit, in which covariant derivatives reduce to partial derivatives. Similarly, it is easy to convince oneself that all other couplings due to gauging, such as potential terms, disappear in this limit, confirming that (4.37) reasonably plays the role of the ungauged limit.<sup>3</sup>

Having identified the 'ungauged phase' of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, let us now inspect its surviving symmetries. We claim that they are given by

local external diffeomorphisms : 
$$\xi^{\mu}(x, Y)$$
,  
global  $E_{8(8)}$  rotations :  $\sigma_M(Y)$ , (4.40)  
global internal diffeomorphisms :  $\lambda^M(Y)$ .

Here we refer to a symmetry as 'local' if its parameter may depend on the external x coordinates and as 'global' if its parameter only depends on Y. Indeed, in order to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is often claimed that compactifying on a circle of radius *R* and then sending  $R \to \infty$  gives back the original, uncompactified theory. The above considerations make clear, however, that one obtains rather an 'ungauged phase' such as (4.37) that is quite different from any conventional theory.

establish the parallel to gauged supergravity, we have to think of the *Y*-dependence as parametrizing an infinite-dimensional global symmetry (rather than a finite-dimensional local symmetry).

Let us now inspect these symmetry transformations in more detail. The  $\xi^{\mu}$  act like usual 3D diffeomorphisms, which are a manifest invariance of (4.37) since there are no  $\partial_M$  derivatives that could detect the *Y*-dependence of  $\xi^{\mu}$ . The global internal diffeomorphisms with parameter  $\Lambda^M$  act on the external dreibein as in the full ExFT:

$$\delta_{\lambda} e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} e_{\mu}{}^{a} + \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} e_{\mu}{}^{a}, \qquad (4.41)$$

while the dreibein is left invariant under  $E_{8(8)}$  rotations w.r.t.  $\sigma$ . However, for  $\mathcal{M}$ , or equivalently a coset representative  $\mathcal{V}_A{}^M$ , the variations look different than in the full ExFT:

$$\delta_{(\lambda,\sigma)} \mathcal{V}_A{}^M = \lambda^N \partial_N \mathcal{V}_A{}^M + f^{MN}{}_K \sigma_N \mathcal{V}_A{}^K.$$
(4.42)

The E<sub>8(8)</sub> rotation is a manifest invariance of (4.37), and the  $\lambda$  variations of the action combine into a total derivative. It would seem to be more natural to have the generalized Lie derivative (3.5) w.r.t.  $\lambda$  acting on  $\mathcal{V}$  (we cannot use the normal Lie derivative because of  $\mathcal{V}$  being E<sub>8(8)</sub> valued), but this is actually equivalent under the parameter redefinition  $\sigma_M \rightarrow \sigma_M + f_M{}^N{}_K \partial_N \lambda^K$ . In contrast to the parameter  $\Sigma_M$  in the full ExFT, here we take  $\sigma_M$  to be unconstrained, so this is a legal redefinition. Thus, in presence of unconstrained  $\sigma_M$  transformations it makes no difference whether we use the generalized Lie derivative or the simplified form (4.42).

We will now identify the global symmetry Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of the above ungauged phase, which can be determined from the closure relations of (4.42). One finds that the Lie bracket for functions  $\zeta = (\lambda^M, \sigma_M)$  is given by

$$[\zeta_1, \zeta_2] = \left(2\lambda_{[1}{}^N\partial_N\lambda_{2]}{}^M, \ 2\lambda_{[1}{}^N\partial_N\sigma_{2]M} + f^{KL}{}_M\sigma_{1K}\sigma_{2L}\right).$$
(4.43)

Lie algebras of this form are naturally associated to any given Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  (which here is  $\mathfrak{e}_{8(8)}$ ) as follows. First, for an arbitrary manifold M, the set  $\mathfrak{L}$  of smooth maps  $M \to \mathfrak{g}_0$ forms an infinite-dimensional Lie algebra, with the natural Lie bracket obtained from  $\mathfrak{g}_0$ . Second, the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{D}$  of (infinitesimal) diffeomorphisms on M acts on  $\mathfrak{L}$  and its Lie bracket as a derivation. We can then define the semi-direct sum  $\mathfrak{L} \oplus \mathfrak{D}$ , whose Lie bracket is (4.43). (What is special about (4.43) is that the 'Lie algebra indices' have the same range as the 'world indices' of M; in general they need not be correlated.) Note that the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  has a non-trivial ideal, given by all elements of the form  $(0, \sigma)$ . Similarly, the set of elements of the form  $(\lambda, 0)$  forms a subalgebra that is isomorphic to the diffeomorphism algebra  $\mathfrak{D}$ .

Next, we investigate the adjoint and coadjoint representations of (4.43). The adjoint representation acts on vectors  $v = (p^M, q_M) \in \mathfrak{g}$  according to  $\delta_{\zeta} v = \mathrm{ad}_{\zeta} v = [\zeta, v]$ , which yields for the components

$$\delta_{\zeta} p^{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} p^{M} - \partial_{N} \lambda^{M} p^{N},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} q_{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} q_{M} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \sigma_{M} + f^{KL}{}_{M} \sigma_{K} q_{L}.$$
(4.44)

A coadjoint vector in  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  can be viewed as (doubled) functions  $\mathcal{A} \equiv (A^M, B_M)$ , with the pairing  $\mathfrak{g} \otimes \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{R}$  given by the integral<sup>4</sup>

$$\mathcal{A}(v) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}Y \left( A^M q_M + B_M p^M \right), \tag{4.45}$$

where from now on we set  $dY \equiv d^{248}Y$ . The coadjoint action  $\delta_{\zeta} \mathcal{A} = ad_{\zeta}^* \mathcal{A}$  is determined, as in (4.18), by requiring invariance of the integral. One quickly verifies that under (4.44) and

$$\delta_{\zeta} A^{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} A^{M} + f^{MN}{}_{K} \sigma_{N} A^{K} + \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} A^{M},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} B_{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} B_{M} + \partial_{M} \lambda^{N} B_{N} + \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} B_{M} + A^{N} \partial_{M} \sigma_{N},$$
(4.46)

the expression under the integral in (4.45) transforms into a total derivative, thereby proving invariance.

We will now show that the coadjoint action (4.46) on  $\mathcal{A}$  gives rise to the  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms using a simple identification of  $(\lambda, \sigma)$  with  $\Upsilon = (\Lambda, \Sigma)$ . Specifically, let us define a map  $\vartheta : \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}$  as in (4.20) by

$$\vartheta(\Upsilon) = \left(\vartheta(\Upsilon)^M, \,\vartheta(\Upsilon)_M\right) = \left(\Lambda^M, \,\, f_M{}^N{}_K\partial_N\Lambda^K + \Sigma_M\right),\tag{4.47}$$

or, using the notation for the matrix  $R_M$  defined in (3.6),

$$\vartheta(\Upsilon) = \left(\Lambda^M, \ R_M(\Lambda, \Sigma)\right). \tag{4.48}$$

Using the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra (3.10) written out explicitly in the following form (which uses that  $\Sigma$  is covariantly constrained, c.f. Eq. (2.15) in [13])

$$\Upsilon_{1} \circ \Upsilon_{2} = \left(\Lambda_{1}^{N} \partial_{N} \Lambda_{2}^{M} + f^{MN}{}_{K} R_{N}(\Upsilon_{1}) \Lambda_{2}^{K} + \partial_{N} \Lambda_{1}^{N} \Lambda_{2}^{M}, \\ \Lambda_{1}^{N} \partial_{N} \Sigma_{2M} + \partial_{N} \Lambda_{1}^{N} \Sigma_{2M} + \partial_{M} \Lambda_{1}^{N} \Sigma_{2N} + \Lambda_{2}^{N} \partial_{M} R_{N}(\Upsilon_{1})\right),$$

$$(4.49)$$

it then becomes manifest, using the form of the coadjoint action (4.46), that the  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized Lie derivative can be written as in (4.24),

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon}\mathcal{A} = \mathrm{ad}^*_{\vartheta(\Upsilon)}\mathcal{A}. \tag{4.50}$$

This shows that  $\vartheta$  as defined in (4.47) encodes the expected Leibniz structure.

We now reconsider the bilinear form (3.17), whose arguments are coadjoint vectors  $\mathcal{A} = (A^M, B_M) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , with the goal to interpret it as the embedding tensor for the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. To this end, we compute the embedding tensor in the bilinear form induced by the map  $\vartheta$  defined in (4.47) according to (4.26):

$$\Theta(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2) = -\mathcal{A}_1(\vartheta(\mathcal{A}_2)) = -\int dY \left( A_1^M \vartheta(\mathcal{A}_2)_M + B_{1M} \vartheta(\mathcal{A}_2)^M \right)$$
$$= -\int dY \left( A_1^M B_{2M} + A_2^M B_{1M} - f^M_{NK} A_1^N \vartheta_M A_2^K \right), \quad (4.51)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This has a direct precursor in Witten's treatment of the coadjoint representation of the Virasoro group [45], where coadjoint vectors are viewed as quadratic differentials, and the pairing between vectors and covectors is given by the invariant integral. Note that this characterization of  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  yields a smaller space than the unconstrained definition of the dual space as the 'space of all functionals of  $\mathfrak{g}$ ', which would include delta distributions.

which indeed coincides with (3.18), up to an overall sign that we picked for later convenience. According to (4.27), the Leibniz algebra should then satisfy

$$(\mathcal{A}_1 \circ \mathcal{A}_2)(\zeta) = \Theta(\mathcal{A}_1, \operatorname{ad}^*_{\zeta} \mathcal{A}_2).$$
(4.52)

To confirm this, we evaluate the right-hand side by taking the second argument of (4.51) to be given by the coadjoint action (4.46) of  $A_2$ . The left-hand side is evaluated with the pairing (4.45) and the Leibniz algebra (4.49). One finds that both sides precisely agree, proving that (4.51) can indeed be interpreted as the embedding tensor that 'derives' the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra from the Lie algebra (4.43).

Let us emphasize that the verification of (4.52) does not require the use of any constraints, neither the section constraints on  $\partial_M$  nor those on  $B_M$ . (More precisely, there are different ways of writing the Leibniz algebra that are only equivalent under the assumption of section constraints. The above verification without section constraints requires the form (4.49).) However, the product (4.49) satisfies the Leibniz relations (or, equivalently, defines generalized Lie derivatives that close) only provided we impose these constraints. Thus, from the point of view of the embedding tensor formulation, these constraints are needed in order to satisfy the quadratic constraints. Luckily, as proved in the previous subsection, the invariance of  $\Theta$  under  $\delta_{\Upsilon} = \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon}$  implies the Leibniz relations. As the former is easier to prove than the latter (see Appendix A in [14]), we have thereby simplified the discussion of the closure constraints.

Let us finally point out the following subtlety of the above construction: While the embedding tensor (4.51) is gauge invariant under the transformations defined by the Leibniz algebra, the map  $\vartheta$  given in (4.47) is *not* gauge invariant in the sense that

$$\Omega(\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2) \equiv \vartheta(\mathrm{ad}^*_{\vartheta(\mathcal{A}_1)}\mathcal{A}_2) - \mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\mathcal{A}_1)}\vartheta(\mathcal{A}_2)$$
(4.53)

does not vanish. In fact, invariance of  $\Theta$  does not imply invariance of  $\vartheta$  since by (4.51) this only needs to hold upon pairing with another coadjoint vector, whose second component is assumed to be 'covariantly constrained'. As a consistency check one may verify that (4.53) indeed does vanish after pairing with such a coadjoint vector. For the same reason, for  $\Theta$  given,  $\vartheta$  is not uniquely determined by (4.51), because the first component  $\vartheta$  ( $\mathcal{A}$ )<sup>*M*</sup> can be shifted by terms that vanish upon contraction with a constrained  $B_M$ .<sup>5</sup>

#### 5. Topological Phase of E<sub>8(8)</sub> Exceptional Field Theory

We show that the topological subsector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT has an interpretation as a Chern–Simons theory based on an extended Leibniz algebra. In the first subsection, we construct the extended  $E_{8(8)}$ -Poincaré Leibniz algebra and discuss the corresponding Chern–Simons theory. In the second subsection we will interpret this Leibniz algebra, as above, via the coadjoint action of an extended Lie algebra. In the third subsection we prove the equivalence of the Chern–Simons gauge transformations and that of the original  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, while the last subsection briefly discusses the extension to the AdS case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Note, however, that this degeneracy of the adjoint/coadjoint pairing does not invalidate the proof around Eq. (4.29) that invariance of  $\Theta$  implies the Leibniz algebra relations, because we established the latter relations upon pairing with an arbitrary (unconstrained) vector v, and the inference (4.32) thus is still valid. In contrast, (4.34) no longer holds, and thus the Leibniz algebra relations do not conversely imply invariance of  $\Theta$ . Note added: after submission of this paper we found a more streamlined treatment in which the 'global' Lie algebra is given by a coset algebra  $g/\Im$ , so that the adjoint/coadjoint pairing is non-degenerate [46].

5.1.  $E_{8(8)}$  Poincaré Leibniz algebra. We now show that the above Leibniz algebra based on  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms can be enlarged to contain an infinite-dimensional generalization of the 3D Poincaré algebra. These Poincaré transformations in turn act via novel anomalous terms on the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra, in a way that permits the existence of an invariant quadratic form on the total Leibniz algebra. The corresponding Chern– Simons theory will then be show to reproduce exactly the topological subsector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT as described in the introduction.

The elements of this algebra combine parameters of the 3D Poincaré group and of the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra discussed in the previous section, all being functions of 248 coordinates:

$$\Xi = (\xi^a, \lambda_a; \Lambda^M, \Sigma_M), \tag{5.1}$$

where a, b = 0, 1, 2 are SO(1, 2) indices. The Leibniz algebra structure is defined by

$$\Xi_1 \circ \Xi_2 \equiv \left(\xi_{12}^a, \, \lambda_{12a}; \, \Lambda_{12}^M, \, \Sigma_{12M}\right),\tag{5.2}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_{12}^{a} &= 2 \, \varepsilon^{abc} \, \xi_{[1b} \, \lambda_{2]c} \, + 2 \, \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda_{[1]}}^{[1]} \xi_{2]}{}^{a}, \\ \lambda_{12a} &= \varepsilon_{abc} \, \lambda_{1}^{b} \, \lambda_{2}^{c} \, + 2 \, \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda_{[1]}}^{[0]} \, \lambda_{2]a}, \\ \Lambda_{12}^{M} &= \, \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{1}}^{[1]} \Lambda_{2}^{M}, \\ \Sigma_{12M} &= \, \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{1}}^{[0]} \Sigma_{2M} \, + \, \Lambda_{2}^{N} \, \partial_{M} R_{N}(\Upsilon_{1}) \, - \, \frac{1}{\kappa} \, \xi_{[1}{}^{a} \, \partial_{M} \lambda_{2]a}, \end{aligned}$$
(5.3)

and  $\kappa$  is a free parameter. Moreover, we use the notation  $\Upsilon \equiv (\Lambda^M, \Sigma_M)$ , and we have employed the notation  $\mathcal{L}$  for the  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized Lie derivatives above. In particular, the Poincaré parameters, not carrying  $E_{8(8)}$  indices, are scalar (densities) of specific weights. Note that the last term in  $\Sigma_{12}$  can be thought of as a non-central extension of the  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz algebra by Poincaré generators and takes structurally the same form as the 'anomalous' term  $\Lambda \partial R$  whose need we discussed in Sect. 3; in particular, due to its free index being carried by a derivative, it is manifestly compatible with the constraint on  $\Sigma$ . In contrast to the term  $\Lambda \partial R$ , however, the coefficient of this term is a free parameter in that the above satisfies the Leibniz algebra relation

$$\Xi_1 \circ (\Xi_2 \circ \Xi_3) - \Xi_2 \circ (\Xi_1 \circ \Xi_3) = (\Xi_1 \circ \Xi_2) \circ \Xi_3, \tag{5.4}$$

for any value of  $\kappa$ , as we will prove momentarily. Thus, we could take the limit  $\kappa \to \infty$  and remove this non-central extension, but it turns out that a suitable invariant quadratic form only exists for finite  $\kappa$ .

In order to verify that (5.3) indeed satisfies the Leibniz algebra relations (5.4) it is convenient to consider the adjoint action on a vector in the Leibniz algebra,

$$\mathfrak{A} \equiv \left(e^{a}, \ \omega_{a}; \ A^{M}, \ B_{M}\right), \tag{5.5}$$

defined by  $\delta \mathfrak{A} \equiv \Xi \circ \mathfrak{A}$ , and then to prove that they close, with an 'effective' parameter given by the Leibniz algebra itself. Indeed, it is easy to see, precisely as in (2.3), that

closure is equivalent to the Leibniz algebra relations (5.4). Using (5.3), the adjoint action reads in terms of components,

$$\delta e^{a} = \varepsilon^{abc} \xi_{b} \omega_{c} - \varepsilon^{abc} e_{b} \lambda_{c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[1]} e^{a} - \mathcal{L}_{A}^{[1]} \xi^{a},$$
  

$$\delta \omega_{a} = \varepsilon_{abc} \lambda^{b} \omega^{c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[0]} \omega_{a} - \mathcal{L}_{A}^{[0]} \lambda_{a},$$
  

$$\delta A^{M} = \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon}^{[1]} A^{M},$$
  

$$\delta B_{M} = \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[0]} B_{M} + A^{N} \partial_{M} R_{N}(\Upsilon) - \frac{1}{2\kappa} \xi^{a} \partial_{M} \omega_{a} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e^{a} \partial_{M} \lambda_{a}.$$
(5.6)

Most of these variations are guaranteed to close by themselve. For instance, the Poincaré transformations w.r.t.  $\lambda$  and  $\xi$  acting on  $e^a$  and  $\omega_a$  close by themselves, because the Poincaré subsector defines a Lie algebra whose adjoint action closes. (This subsector does not define a subalgebra, however, because it acts non-centrally on the E<sub>8(8)</sub> part, as encoded in the last two terms in the last line of (5.6)). Moreover, the E<sub>8(8)</sub> generalized diffeomorphisms close by themselves (and acting on  $e^a$ ,  $\omega_a$  as scalar densities), by the general results reviewed in Sect. 3. Thus, the only non-trivial check is the closure on  $B_M$  of variations involving the non-central variations proportional to  $\frac{1}{\kappa}$ . For instance, a quick computation shows that two Lorentz transformations on  $B_M$  close according to

$$\left[\delta_{\lambda_1}, \delta_{\lambda_2}\right] B_M = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} e^a \partial_M \lambda_{12a}, \qquad (5.7)$$

with  $\lambda_{12}$  given by the algebra (5.3). The closure relations for the remaining parameters follow similarly, thereby completing the proof of (5.4). Let us also note that the trivial parameters of the above transformations are unmodified compared to the pure E<sub>8(8)</sub> case (3.8), because the modifications by Poincaré parameters are antisymmetric. In particular, the symmetrization of the Leibniz product (5.3) vanishes in the first two (i.e. Poincaré) components, and reduces in the E<sub>8(8)</sub> components to (3.15).

After having constructed the Leibniz algebra (5.3), our next task is to construct a symmetric bilinear form that is invariant in the sense of Sect. 2. We start from the following ansatz generalizing the invariant form (3.17) of the pure  $E_{8(8)}$  Leibniz structure:

$$\langle \mathfrak{A}_{1}, \mathfrak{A}_{2} \rangle = 2 \int \mathrm{d}^{248} Y \Big( e_{(1}{}^{a} \omega_{2)a} + 2 \kappa A_{(1}{}^{M} B_{2)M} - \kappa f^{K}{}_{MN} A_{(1}{}^{M} \partial_{K} A_{2)}{}^{N} \Big).$$
(5.8)

The first term added here is the symmetric invariant of the 3D Poincaré algebra (which was used by Witten to show that pure 3D gravity without cosmological constant has an interpretation as a Chern–Simons theory of the 3D Poincaré group [6]). The second and third term, which we here multiplied by an overall factor  $\kappa$ , equal the bilinear form (3.17) and are hence invariant under pure  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. Thus, it remains to verify that the additional variations of the Poincaré invariant due to the  $E_{8(8)}$  diffeomorphisms in the first two lines of (5.6) are cancelled by the new, non-central variations of  $B_M$ . We compute with (5.6)

$$\delta(e_{(1}{}^{a}\omega_{2)a}) = \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[1]}(e_{(1}{}^{a}\omega_{2)a}) - \partial_{N}(\xi^{a}A_{(1}{}^{N}\omega_{2)a}) + A_{(1}{}^{N}(\xi^{a}\partial_{N}\omega_{2)a} - e_{2)}{}^{a}\partial_{N}\lambda_{a}).$$
(5.9)

The first term is the covariant variation (of weight one), as needed for invariance under an integral. The second term vanishes under the integral, and the third term is precisely cancelled in the combination (5.8), due to the extra variations of *B* proportional to  $\frac{1}{\kappa}$ , thus proving the invariance of (5.8). The 'higher' invariance condition (3.20) follows as for the pure E<sub>8(8)</sub> theory, since the form of 'trivial' parameters is unchanged.

We see that both for the Leibniz relations as for the existence of an invariant bilinear form  $\kappa$  is a free parameter, but it needs to be finite in order to have a non-degenerate quadratic invariant. More precisely,  $\kappa$  needs to be non-zero in order for the invariant not to vanish for arbitrary values of *A*, *B* (or alternatively  $e^a$ ,  $\omega_a$ ); the bilinear form is actually degenerate because of (3.20). We will see that in the final topological theory the actual value of  $\kappa$ , as long as it is finite, has no physical significance in that it can be absorbed into a rescaling of the dreibein.

We can now construct the Chern–Simons gauge theory based on the Leibniz algebra (5.3) with quadratic invariant (5.8). We thus introduce one-forms  $\mathfrak{A}_{\mu}$  in 3D taking values in the Leibniz algebra and postulate Yang-Mills-like gauge transformations as in (2.8),

$$\delta \mathfrak{A}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} \Xi - \mathfrak{A}_{\mu} \circ \Xi. \tag{5.10}$$

Parametrizing the gauge parameter as (5.1) and the gauge field as

$$\mathfrak{A}_{\mu} = \left(e_{\mu}{}^{a}, \omega_{\mu a}; A_{\mu}{}^{M}, B_{\mu M}\right), \qquad (5.11)$$

the gauge transformations read in components<sup>6</sup>

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = D_{\mu}\xi^{a} - \varepsilon^{abc}e_{\mu b}\lambda_{c} + \varepsilon^{abc}\xi_{b}\omega_{\mu c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[1]}e_{\mu}{}^{a},$$
  

$$\delta \omega_{\mu a} = D_{\mu}\lambda_{a} - \varepsilon_{abc}\omega_{\mu}{}^{b}\lambda^{c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[0]}\omega_{\mu a},$$
  

$$\delta A_{\mu}{}^{M} = D_{\mu}\Lambda^{M},$$
  

$$\delta B_{\mu M} = D_{\mu}\Sigma_{M} - \Lambda^{N}\partial_{M}R_{N}(A_{\mu}, B_{\mu}) + \frac{1}{2\kappa}e_{\mu}{}^{a}\partial_{M}\lambda_{a} - \frac{1}{2\kappa}\xi^{a}\partial_{M}\omega_{\mu a},$$
  
(5.12)

where we introduced covariant derivatives (3.23) w.r.t. the internal  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. Under the latter symmetries the above are the expected gauge transformations for the one-form sector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT, and so are the local Lorentz transformations for  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  and  $\omega_{\mu a}$ , but not for  $B_{\mu M}$ , which is related to the corresponding field of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT by a field redefinition to be discussed in the next subsection.

Evaluating the Chern–Simons action (2.15), using the algebra (5.3) and the invariant (5.8), yields

$$S = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Y \left( \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} e_{\mu}{}^a R_{\nu\rho a} + 2\kappa \, \mathcal{L}_{\rm CS}(A, B) \right), \tag{5.13}$$

with the Chern–Simons Lagrangian in (3.25) for the gauge vectors, and the (3D version of the) generalized Riemann tensor,<sup>7</sup>

$$R_{\mu\nu a} = D_{\mu}\omega_{\nu a} - D_{\nu}\omega_{\mu a} - \varepsilon_{abc}\,\omega_{\mu}{}^{b}\,\omega_{\nu}{}^{c}, \qquad (5.14)$$

where  $D_{\mu}\omega_{\nu a} = \partial_{\mu}\omega_{\nu a} - A_{\mu}{}^{M}\partial_{M}\omega_{\nu a}$  are the covariant derivatives w.r.t. internal generalized diffeomorphisms. The first term in (5.13) is the 3D form of the Einstein-Hilbert term eR, but due to the covariant derivatives in (5.14) it depends also on the gauge

 $<sup>^{6}</sup>$  These component fields should not be confused with those in (5.5), because here we consider algebra valued one-form fields, as opposed to zero-form 'matter fields'.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Compared to the conventions of [12,13] we have redefined the spin connection by  $\omega \to -\omega$ . Moreover, the spin connection is related to its standard form by the 3D redefinition  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} = \varepsilon^{abc} \omega_{\mu c}$ .

vectors  $A_{\mu}{}^{M}$ . (The non-central extension of the Leibniz algebra is needed in order for the couplings to  $A_{\mu}{}^{M}$  to properly combine into the gauge covariant derivative.) The above action coincides with the topological sector of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT action obtained by truncating the 'scalar' fields  $\mathcal{M}_{MN}$ , except for a field redefinition of  $B_{\mu M}$ , to which we turn below.

5.2.  $E_{8(8)}$  Poincaré Leibniz algebra via coadjoint action. We now ask whether there is a similar construction to that in Sect. 4, where we showed that the Leibniz algebra of  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms can be obtained, as in gauged supergravity, from a genuine Lie algebra and a choice of embedding tensor. Is there a further extension of that (infinite-dimensional) Lie algebra so that the full  $E_{8(8)}$  Poincaré Leibniz algebra is obtained in the same fashion? The answer is affirmative, as we will now show.

The Lie algebra is defined for functions  $\zeta = (\rho^a, \tau_a, \lambda^M, \sigma_M)$ , with Lie brackets

$$[\zeta_{1}, \zeta_{2}] = \left(2 \varepsilon^{abc} \rho_{[1b} \tau_{2]c} + 2 \partial_{N} (\lambda_{[1}{}^{N} \rho_{2]}{}^{a}), \\ \varepsilon_{abc} \tau_{1}^{b} \tau_{2}^{c} + 2 \lambda_{[1}{}^{N} \partial_{N} \tau_{2]a}, \\ 2 \lambda_{[1}{}^{N} \partial_{N} \lambda_{2]}{}^{M}, \\ 2 \lambda_{[1}{}^{N} \partial_{N} \sigma_{2]M} + f^{KL}{}_{M} \sigma_{1K} \sigma_{2L} + 2 \alpha \rho_{[1}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \tau_{2]a}\right).$$
(5.15)

The parameter  $\alpha$  in the last line is a free parameter, not constrained by the Jacobi identities. Note also the density term in the first line (for which we could also have introduced a free parameter that we fixed here to the final value). The adjoint action on  $a = (n^a, m_a, p^M, q_M)$  is given by  $\delta_{\zeta} a = [\zeta, a]$  and reads in components

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\zeta} n^{a} &= \varepsilon^{abc} \rho_{b} m_{c} - \varepsilon^{abc} n_{b} \tau_{c} + \partial_{N} (\lambda^{N} n^{a}) - \partial_{N} (p^{N} \rho^{a}), \\ \delta_{\zeta} m_{a} &= \varepsilon_{abc} \tau^{b} m^{c} + \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} m_{a} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \tau_{a}, \\ \delta_{\zeta} p^{M} &= \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} p^{M} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \lambda^{M}, \\ \delta_{\zeta} q_{M} &= \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} q_{M} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \sigma_{M} + f^{KL}{}_{M} \sigma_{K} q_{L} + \alpha \rho^{a} \partial_{M} m_{a} - \alpha n^{a} \partial_{M} \tau_{a}. \end{split}$$

$$(5.16)$$

The coadjoint representation on  $\mathfrak{A} = (e^a, \omega_a, A^M, B_M) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$  is determined by demanding invariance of the pairing

$$\mathfrak{A}(a) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}Y \Big( e^a m_a + \omega_a n^a + A^M q_M + B_M p^M \Big).$$
(5.17)

One finds

$$\delta_{\zeta} e^{a} = \varepsilon^{abc} \tau_{b} e_{c} + \varepsilon^{abc} \rho_{b} \omega_{c} + \partial_{N} (\lambda^{N} e^{a}) + \alpha \partial_{M} (A^{M} \rho^{a})$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} \omega_{a} = \varepsilon_{abc} \tau^{b} \omega^{c} + \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} \omega_{a} + \alpha A^{M} \partial_{M} \tau_{a},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} A^{M} = \partial_{N} (\lambda^{N} A^{M}) + f^{MN}{}_{K} \sigma_{N} A^{K},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} B_{M} = \partial_{N} (\lambda^{N} B_{M}) + \partial_{M} \lambda^{N} B_{N} + A^{N} \partial_{M} \sigma_{N} - \rho^{a} \partial_{M} \omega_{a} + e^{a} \partial_{M} \tau_{a}.$$
  
(5.18)

Note that the anomalous Poincaré variations in the last line are not multiplied by  $\alpha$ , i.e., they survive even if we send  $\alpha \rightarrow 0$  to remove the analogous term in the last line of (5.15). Thus, in this sense, this structure is an inevitable consequence of the coupling to the Poincaré algebra.

Next, we define the map  $\vartheta : \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}$  by

$$\vartheta(\Xi) = \vartheta(\xi^a, \lambda_a, \Lambda^M, \Sigma_M) = (\xi^a, \lambda_a, \Lambda^M, R_M(\Lambda, \Sigma)),$$
(5.19)

so that by comparing with (5.6) we confirm, upon setting  $\alpha = -1$ ,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\Xi}\mathfrak{A} = \Xi \circ \mathfrak{A} = \mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(\Xi)}^* \mathfrak{A}, \qquad (5.20)$$

up to the rescaling

$$e^a \rightarrow \frac{1}{2\kappa} e^a, \quad \xi^a \rightarrow \frac{1}{2\kappa} \xi^a.$$
 (5.21)

We can now reconstruct the quadratic invariant as in (4.51):

$$\Theta(\mathfrak{A}_1,\mathfrak{A}_2) = -\mathfrak{A}_1(\vartheta(\mathfrak{A}_2)), \qquad (5.22)$$

which reproduces (5.8), upon the rescaling (5.21), and up to the same global sign as in (4.51).

5.3. Equivalence of gauge transformations. We will now prove equivalence of the gauge transformations following from the Chern–Simons formulation to those of the  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT constructed in [13], and in particular give the required field redefinition of  $B_{\mu M}$ . We saw already that the Yang-Mills transformations of the Chern–Simons formulation give rise to the expected form of internal  $E_{8(8)}$  generalized diffeomorphisms. Next, we turn to the external diffeomorphisms, which in the formulation of [13] are parametrized by  $\xi^{\mu}(x, Y)$ , and show that the local translations  $\xi^{a}$  can be matched with these transformations. Note that the manifest diffeomorphism invariance of the Chern–Simons theory here only implies invariance under the *Y*-independent transformations with  $\xi^{\mu} = \xi^{\mu}(x)$ , and thus we have to identify the remaining diffeomorphisms (that in some sense mix *x* and *Y*) among the infinite-dimensional Yang-Mills gauge transformations.

We begin by performing the following field-dependent redefinition of gauge parameters that introduces the vector parameter  $\xi^{\mu} = \xi^{\mu}(x, Y)$ :

$$\xi^{a} = \xi^{\nu} e_{\nu}{}^{a}, \quad \lambda_{a} \to \lambda_{a} + \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a}.$$
(5.23)

Note that at this stage we do not perform an analogous parameter redefinition of  $\Lambda$ ,  $\Sigma$ . We then find from (5.12) the transformations w.r.t. to the new parameter  $\xi^{\mu}$ :

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \xi^{\nu} D_{\nu} e_{\mu}{}^{a} + D_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} e_{\nu}{}^{a} - \xi^{\nu} T_{\nu\mu}{}^{a},$$
  

$$\delta \omega_{\mu a} = \xi^{\nu} D_{\nu} \omega_{\mu a} + D_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a} - \xi^{\nu} R_{\nu\mu a},$$
  

$$\delta A_{\mu}{}^{M} = 0,$$
  

$$\delta B_{\mu M} = \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \lambda_{a} + \frac{1}{\kappa} \xi^{\nu} e_{[\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \omega_{\nu]a} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a},$$
(5.24)

where  $R_{\mu\nu a}$  is the (generalized) 3D Riemann tensor (5.14), and we introduced the generalized torsion tensor

$$T_{\mu\nu}{}^a = D_{\mu}e_{\nu}{}^a - D_{\nu}e_{\mu}{}^a - \varepsilon^{abc}\omega_{\mu b}e_{\nu c} + \varepsilon^{abc}\omega_{\nu b}e_{\mu c}.$$
(5.25)

In order to compare with the transformations of the full ExFT, we have to add an equations-of-motion symmetry. A general such symmetry takes the form  $\delta \mathfrak{A}_{\mu} = \Omega_{\mu\nu}$ 

 $\epsilon^{\nu\rho\sigma}\mathfrak{F}_{\rho\sigma}$ , with  $\Omega_{\mu\nu}$  antisymmetric. Choosing  $\Omega_{\mu\nu} \propto \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho}\xi^{\rho}$  we infer that the following provides a trivial on-shell symmetry:

$$\delta \mathfrak{A}_{\mu} = \xi^{\nu} \mathfrak{F}_{\nu\mu}, \qquad (5.26)$$

where the field strength, discussed in Sect. 2, takes the form

$$\mathfrak{F}_{\mu\nu} = 2\,\partial_{[\mu}\mathfrak{A}_{\nu]} - \mathfrak{A}_{[\mu}\circ\mathfrak{A}_{\nu]} + \cdots, \qquad (5.27)$$

up to trivial 2-forms that are irrelevant in the action. For the vielbein and spin connection components these curvatures are given by (5.14) and (5.25), respectively, while the curvatures  $F_{\mu\nu}{}^M$ ,  $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu M}$  for  $\mathcal{A}_{\mu} = (A_{\mu}{}^M, B_{\mu M})$  are as discussed in Sect. 3, c.f. (3.24), except for the following modification:

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu M} = G_{\mu\nu M} + \frac{1}{\kappa} e_{[\mu}{}^a \partial_M \omega_{\nu]a}, \qquad (5.28)$$

due to the non-central extension of the algebra. Adding (5.26) to (5.24) we obtain equivalent gauge transformations, in which the field strength terms in  $\delta e$  and  $\delta \omega$  are cancelled, while field strength terms are added to  $\delta A$ ,  $\delta B$ :

$$\delta_{\xi} e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \xi^{\nu} D_{\nu} e_{\mu}{}^{a} + D_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} e_{\nu}{}^{a},$$
  

$$\delta\omega_{\mu a} = \xi^{\nu} D_{\nu} \omega_{\mu a} + D_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a},$$
  

$$\delta A_{\mu}{}^{M} = \xi^{\nu} F_{\nu \mu}{}^{M},$$
  

$$\delta B_{\mu M} = \xi^{\nu} \mathcal{G}_{\nu \mu M} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \lambda_{a} + \frac{1}{\kappa} \xi^{\nu} e_{[\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \omega_{\nu]a} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a}.$$
(5.29)

Writing the gauge transformation of  $B_{\mu M}$  in terms of the field strength  $G_{\mu\nu}$  via (5.28), some terms cancel, and we get

$$\delta B_{\mu M} = \xi^{\nu} G_{\nu \mu M} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \lambda_{a} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial_{M} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a}.$$
(5.30)

Our goal is now to find a field redefinition so that the gauge transformations of  $B_{\mu M}$  can be matched with those of the original  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT in [13]. In particular, in the latter formulation  $B_{\mu M}$  is inert under local Lorentz transformations, while in (5.30) it transforms under  $\lambda_a$ . This suggests to define a new field as

$$\bar{B}_{\mu M} \equiv B_{\mu M} + \frac{1}{4\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \varepsilon_{abc} \,\omega_{M}{}^{bc}, \qquad \omega_{M}{}^{ab} \equiv e^{\mu[a} \partial_{M} e_{\mu}{}^{b]}, \tag{5.31}$$

because  $\omega_M$  has an anomalous Lorentz transformation  $\Delta_\lambda \omega_M{}^{ab} = \varepsilon^{abc} \partial_M \lambda_c$ , as can be verified with (5.12), which precisely cancels the  $e \partial_M \lambda$  term in (5.30).  $\bar{B}$  is then Lorentz invariant, as in the conventional ExFT formulation. Performing the redefinition (5.31) in the action (5.13) one obtains

$$S = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Y \left( e \widehat{R} + 2 \kappa \, \mathcal{L}_{CS}(A, \overline{B}) \right), \tag{5.32}$$

where we defined an 'improved' Riemann tensor so that

$$e\widehat{R} = \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}e_{\mu}{}^{a}\widehat{R}_{\nu\rho\,a} = eR + ee^{a\mu}e^{b\nu}F_{\mu\nu}{}^{M}\omega_{Mab}.$$
(5.33)

This is the form of the covariantized Einstein-Hilbert term for generic ExFTs, where a term proportional to  $F_{\mu\nu}$  is added in order to guarantee local Lorentz invariance. The novelty of the 3D case is that this term is not needed but can be absorbed into a redefinition of  $B_{\mu M}$ , as done by (the inverse of) (5.31), in which case the non-invariance of the Einstein-Hilbert term is compensated by a non-trivial Lorentz transformation of  $B_{\mu M}$ .

Having identified the field redefinition that matches the actions of the original and the Chern–Simons formulation, as well as matching the local Lorentz transformations, we prove in the remainder of this section that also the external generalized diffeomorphisms w.r.t.  $\xi^{\mu}$  are equivalent, as it should be for consistency. To this end we have to compute the transformation of the redefined  $B_{\mu M}$  in (5.31) under (5.29), for which in turn we need the anomalous diffeomorphism transformation of  $\omega_M{}^{ab}$ . To this end, we compute

$$\Delta_{\xi}(\partial_M e_{\mu}{}^b) = \partial_M \xi^{\lambda} D_{\lambda} e_{\mu}{}^b + D_{\mu}(\partial_M \xi^{\lambda}) e_{\lambda}{}^b - \xi^{\lambda} \partial_M \partial_N A_{\lambda}{}^N e_{\mu}{}^b, \qquad (5.34)$$

where  $\Delta_{\xi}$  denotes the non-covariant part of the diffeomorphism transformation (the difference between the full variation and the 'covariant' terms that take the same form as standard infinitesimal diffeomorphisms, but with  $\partial_{\mu}$  replaced by  $D_{\mu}$ ). The above relation can be verified by a direct computation. From this we derive

$$\Delta_{\xi}\omega_M{}^{ab} = \partial_M \xi^{\lambda} e^{\mu[a} D_{\lambda} e_{\mu}{}^{b]} + D_{\mu} (\partial_M \xi^{\lambda}) e^{\mu[a} e_{\lambda}{}^{b]}.$$
(5.35)

When using (5.30) in order to compute the transformation of (5.31) we may use the explicit form the spin connection, because in [12,13] we employed a second order formalism that treats  $\omega$  as determined by its own field equations,  $T_{\mu\nu}{}^a = 0$ . It reads

$$\omega_{\mu a} = \epsilon^{\nu \rho \sigma} \left( e_{\nu a} e_{\mu b} - \frac{1}{2} e_{\mu a} e_{\nu b} \right) D_{\rho} e_{\sigma}^{\ b}.$$
(5.36)

Moreover, we have to write the field strength in (5.30) in terms of B:

$$G_{\mu\nu M}(B) = G_{\mu\nu M}(\bar{B}) - \frac{1}{2\kappa} D_{[\mu} \left( e_{\nu]}^{a} \varepsilon_{abc} \, \omega_{M}^{bc} \right), \qquad (5.37)$$

so that one obtains for the variation of (5.31)

$$\delta_{\xi}\bar{B}_{\mu M} = \xi^{\nu}G_{\nu\mu M}(\bar{B}) - \frac{1}{2\kappa}\xi^{\nu}D_{[\nu}(e_{\mu}]^{a}\varepsilon_{abc}\,\omega_{M}^{bc}) + \frac{1}{4\kappa}\xi^{\nu}D_{\nu}(e_{\mu}{}^{a}\varepsilon_{abc}\,\omega_{M}^{bc}) + \frac{1}{4\kappa}D_{\mu}\xi^{\nu}(e_{\nu}{}^{a}\varepsilon_{abc}\,\omega_{M}^{bc}) + (\partial_{M}\xi \text{ terms}) = \xi^{\nu}G_{\nu\mu}(\bar{B}) + D_{\mu}\left(\frac{1}{4\kappa}\xi^{\nu}e_{\nu}{}^{a}\varepsilon_{abc}\,\omega_{M}^{bc}\right) + (\partial_{M}\xi \text{ terms}),$$
(5.38)

where we give the  $\partial_M \xi$  terms momentarily. The terms in the second line are the covariant terms from the variation of the terms in (5.31) proportional to  $\frac{1}{\kappa}$ . We observe that terms combined into a total  $D_{\mu}$  derivative, which can be eliminated by the parameter redefinition

$$\bar{\Sigma}_M = \Sigma_M + \frac{1}{4\kappa} \xi^{\nu} e_{\nu}{}^a \varepsilon_{abc} \,\omega_M{}^{bc}.$$
(5.39)

The total  $\Sigma$  and  $\xi$  transformations are now given by

$$\delta_{\xi,\bar{\Sigma}} B_{\mu M} = D_{\mu} \Sigma_{M} + \xi^{\nu} G_{\nu \mu M} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \Big( \partial_{M} \xi^{\nu} \omega_{\nu a} + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{abc} \partial_{M} \xi^{\nu} e^{\rho b} D_{\nu} e_{\rho}{}^{c} + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{abc} D_{\rho} (\partial_{M} \xi^{\nu}) e^{\rho b} e_{\nu}{}^{c} \Big),$$
(5.40)

where we restored the  $\partial_M \xi$  terms, using (5.35). Inserting (5.36) one finds after some manipulations, using a Schouten identity in the form  $0 = \partial_M \xi^{[\nu} \varepsilon^{\lambda \rho \sigma]}$ , the following form of the external diffeomorphisms:

$$\delta_{\xi}\bar{B}_{\mu M} = \xi^{\nu}G_{\nu\mu M} + \frac{1}{4\kappa}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\sigma}D^{\nu}(\partial_{M}\xi^{\sigma}) + \frac{1}{4\kappa}\partial_{M}\xi^{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu}{}^{\rho\sigma}D_{\rho}g_{\sigma\nu}$$
  
$$= \xi^{\nu}G_{\nu\mu M} + \frac{1}{4\kappa}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\lambda}g^{\lambda\rho}D^{\nu}(g_{\rho\sigma}\partial_{M}\xi^{\sigma}).$$
(5.41)

The last form is precisely the gauge transformation of  $B_{\mu M}$  in the original formulation (upon truncating the 'matter' fields  $\mathcal{M}$ ), see Eq. (3.24) in [13]. More precisely, in the full ExFT an on-shell modification of the gauge transformations is needed, in which the field strengths terms in  $\delta_{\xi} A$  and  $\delta_{\xi} B$  are replaced by their on-shell dual 'matter currents'. For the topological sector considered here we may perform another equationsof-motion symmetry (5.26), but now only for the sector of gauge vectors (A, B), in order to remove the field strengths terms  $F_{\mu\nu}$  and  $G_{\mu\nu}$ ,<sup>8</sup> so that  $\delta_{\xi} A_{\mu}{}^{M} = 0$ , and  $\delta_{\xi} B_{\mu M}$  reduces to the second term in (5.41), which agrees, upon truncating the matter fields  $\mathcal{M}$ , with Eq. (3.40) in [13]. This completes our discussion of the proof that the gauge transformations of the topological sector of the E<sub>8(8)</sub> ExFT can be interpreted as Yang-Mills gauge transformations based on the Leibniz-Poincaré algebra (5.3).

5.4. Generalization to AdS gravity. We have seen that the topological sector of  $E_{8(8)}$  ExFT has a Chern–Simons interpretation, reproducing in particular the 3D Einstein-Hilbert term without cosmological constant. It is natural to ask whether there is an extension to include a non-vanishing cosmological constant, as is the case for pure 3D gravity, where the Poincaré group is simply replaced by the (A)dS groups, SO(2, 2) or SO(1, 3), respectively. Moreover, both in gauged supergravity and ExFT there is a potential, so that generic compactifications indeed give rise to a non-vanishing cosmological constant, thereby suggesting that a reformulation with a 3+8 (and eventually 3+248) split may naturally involve an external (A)dS<sub>3</sub> space.

We will now show that there is an extension of the Leibniz algebra (5.3) to a de Sitter-Leibniz algebra, whose Chern–Simons action leads to a cosmological constant. We denote the cosmological constant by  $v = -\frac{1}{\ell^2}$ , with (A)dS radius  $\ell$ , (and we can think of it as the ground state value of the potential in a complete theory,  $V_0 = v$ ). The Leibniz algebra is defined in terms of functions  $\Xi = (\xi^a, \lambda_a; \Lambda^M, \Sigma_M)$  by

$$\Xi_1 \circ \Xi_2 \equiv (\xi_{12}^a, \lambda_{12a}; \Lambda_{12}^M, \Sigma_{12M}),$$
 (5.42)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Perhaps more simply, it is straightforward to verify with (3.26) that the pure field strength terms in  $\delta_{\xi} A_{\mu}^{M}$  and  $\delta_{\xi} B_{\mu M}$  are a separate invariance of the Chern–Simons action and can hence be dropped in the formulas for external diffeomorphisms.

where

$$\begin{split} \xi_{12}^{a} &= 2 \, \varepsilon^{abc} \, \xi_{[1b} \, \lambda_{2]c} + 2 \, \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda_{[1}}^{[1]} \, \xi_{2]}^{a}, \\ \lambda_{12a} &= \varepsilon_{abc} \, \lambda_{1}^{b} \, \lambda_{2}^{c} - \frac{1}{\ell^{2}} \, \varepsilon_{abc} \, \xi_{1}^{b} \, \xi_{2}^{c} + 2 \, \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda_{[1}}^{[0]} \, \lambda_{2]a}, \\ \Lambda_{12}^{M} &= \, \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{1}}^{[1]} \, \Lambda_{2}^{M}, \\ \Sigma_{12M} &= \, \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon_{1}}^{[0]} \, \Sigma_{2M} + \, \Lambda_{2}^{N} \, \partial_{M} R_{N}(\Upsilon_{1}) - \frac{1}{\kappa} \, \xi_{1}^{a} \, \partial_{M} \lambda_{2]a}. \end{split}$$
(5.43)

The AdS length scale  $\ell$  only appears in the second line, as a modification of the Lorentz sub-algebra, as is the case for the conventional (A)dS algebra. We can now compute the adjoint action on an algebra valued field  $\mathfrak{A} \equiv (e^a, \omega_a, A^M, B_M)$  to find the transformations

$$\delta e^{a} = \varepsilon^{abc} \xi_{b} \omega_{c} - \varepsilon^{abc} e_{b} \lambda_{c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[1]} e^{a} - \mathcal{L}_{A}^{[1]} \xi^{a},$$
  

$$\delta \omega_{a} = \varepsilon_{abc} \lambda^{b} \omega^{c} - \frac{1}{\ell^{2}} \varepsilon_{abc} \xi^{b} e^{c} + \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[0]} \omega_{a} - \mathcal{L}_{A}^{[0]} \lambda_{a},$$
  

$$\delta A^{M} = \mathcal{L}_{\Upsilon}^{[1]} A^{M},$$
  

$$\delta B_{M} = \mathcal{L}_{\Lambda}^{[0]} B_{M} + A^{N} \partial_{M} R_{N}(\Upsilon) - \frac{1}{2\kappa} \xi^{a} \partial_{M} \omega_{a} + \frac{1}{2\kappa} e^{a} \partial_{M} \lambda_{a}.$$
(5.44)

The new term proportional to the cosmological constant in  $\delta \omega_a$  is the only change in the transformation rules. The Leibniz algebra relations are thus automatically satisfied, because their equivalent closure conditions hold precisely as for the pure (A)dS Lie algebra.

We next have to ask whether there is still in invariant quadratic form. It turns out that the invariant (5.8) for the Poincaré-Leibniz algebra continues to be invariant, because under the new term in the variation proportional to v we have

$$\delta_{v}(e_{(1}{}^{a}\omega_{2)a}) = v \,\varepsilon_{abc} \,\xi^{b} \,e_{(1}{}^{a}e_{2)}{}^{c} = 0, \qquad (5.45)$$

as a consequence of the symmetrization. Thus, we can define a Chern–Simons action based on (5.43), using the same invariant (5.8), to obtain

$$S = \int d^3x \, d^{248} Y \left( eR - 2 e v + 2 \kappa \, \mathcal{L}_{CS}(A, B) \right).$$
(5.46)

Thus, the only modification is the addition of a cosmological constant term proportional to v.

Let us point out a peculiar difference of the above construction to pure  $AdS_3$  gravity and its supersymmetric and higher-spin generalizations. In the latter case the algebras always factorize; for instance, for pure gravity we have  $SO(2, 2) \cong SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \times SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ , and the super- and higher-spin groups factorize similarly. As a consequence, there is a second invariant of the Lie algebra [6], which reads

$$v e_{(1}{}^{a} e_{2)a} + \omega_{(1}{}^{a} \omega_{2)a}, \tag{5.47}$$

which is non-degenerate for  $v \neq 0$ . Due to the splitting of the gauge groups, the Chern–Simons action is then really the sum of two SL(2,  $\mathbb{R}$ ) Chern–Simons terms with arbitrary relative coefficients. There is no analogue for the E<sub>8(8)</sub> ExFT, however, because the

second invariant cannot be consistently extended. In fact, in ExFT, *e* carries (density) weight one and  $\omega$  weight zero, so that in (5.47) both terms fail to have a total weight of one, as would be necessary for invariance under an integral as in (5.8).<sup>9</sup>

We have shown that the Chern–Simons formulation can be extended so as to include a cosmological constant term proportional to v. In particular, for v < 0 the theory admits AdS<sub>3</sub> solutions, and so one can investigate it as a (toy-)model for the AdS/CFT correspondence. As a first step it would be important to determine the asymptotic symmetries. While for pure 3D gravity they are given by (two copies of) the Virasoro algebra, with the Brown-Henneaux central charge  $c = \frac{3\ell}{2G}$ , already for supergravity and higher-spin theories the asymptotic symmetries are no longer governed by Lie algebras, but rather by so-called *W*-algebras (although the value of the central charge remains unchanged) [7,8,47]. Thus, it is plausible to suspect that the same happens for the theory considered here. Finally, we note that *W*-algebras have recently been shown to have an interpretation as L<sub>∞</sub> algebras [51], as have the bulk ExFTs, and so intriguingly both the bulk and boundary degrees of freedom may be governed by suitable ∞-algebras. This may lead to a new perspective on holography more generally.

#### 6. Summary and Outlook

We have discussed the general construction of Chern–Simons actions in 3D based on Leibniz algebras and shown that they arise naturally in gauged supergravity and exceptional field theory. For the  $E_{8(8)}$  exceptional field theory both the topological terms for the gauge vectors themselves and the full 'topological phase' including also the dreibein and spin connection allow for such Chern–Simons interpretations. We have also shown that there is a universal construction of such Leibniz algebras that is applicable both to gauged supergravity and exceptional field theory. It starts from a genuine Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ (that we can view as the global symmetry of the 'ungauged phase') and an embedding tensor, that in 3D is a symmetric tensor  $\Theta$  on the dual space  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ . Interpreting the embedding tensor as a map  $\vartheta : \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathfrak{g}$ , one can define the Leibniz algebra in terms of the coadjoint representation as  $A \circ B = ad_{\vartheta(A)}^*B$ . The original embedding tensor  $\Theta$  is invariant under this action, which in turn implies the Leibniz relations.

With this construction we believe to have made a potentially significant conceptual advance in that it gives an answer to the question whether the generalized diffeomorphisms in double and exceptional field theory can be interpreted as originating from more conventional transformations, such as diffeomorphisms on a larger manifold, by putting additional structures. Obvious analogies are symplectic manifolds in which the general diffeomorphism group is reduced to the symplectomorphisms that leave the symplectic form invariant. However, such a construction cannot give generalized diffeomorphisms, for starting from a Lie algebra and demanding invariance of some structure at best yields a non-trivial subalgebra that is still a Lie algebra, but not a genuine Leibniz algebra. (See Sect. 3.1 in [52].) This obstacle is circumvented in the above construction by having the 'invariant structure' (the embedding tensor) itself define the 'adjoint action' of the Leibniz algebra—in terms of the coadjoint action of the original Lie algebra. Moreover, this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> There is another 3D Chern–Simons-type theory with an infinite-dimensional extension of the AdS algebra that does not factorize [48]. This is based on the algebra of volume preserving diffeomorphisms on  $S^3$  [49], which is a genuine Lie algebra that, however, does not have an invariant quadratic form. The Chern–Simons term constructed in [49] can be interpreted as a Leibniz–Chern–Simons theory, with the embedding tensor being the invariant quadratic form on the dual space of one-forms given by  $\Theta(\omega, \eta) = \int_{S^3} \omega \wedge d\eta$ . We hope to elaborate on this connection in more detail in future work and thank an anonymous referee for inquiring about this. Note added: In the meantime, the preprint [50] appeared in which this connection is developed.

Lie algebra is crucially not just a diffeomorphism algebra but rather the semi-direct sum of a diffeomorphism algebra and the current algebra based on the corresponding U-duality group. It is important to investigate this construction further, in particular in order to see whether it sheds light on some of the conceptual questions of double and exceptional field theory.

In view of the realization of the 'topological phase' of the  $E_{8(8)}$  exceptional field theory as a Leibniz–Chern–Simons theory, it remains to see whether the 'matter couplings' given by the  $E_{8(8)}/SO(16)$  coset degrees of freedom can be efficiently described in a similar language, presumably upon introducing auxiliary fields. Moreover, even without matter couplings, it would be interesting to see whether the topological phase makes physical sense by itself. Although here we can only speculate, one may wonder whether this Chern–Simons theory represents a protected topological sector of M-theory.

*Acknowledgemets.* We would like to thank Dan Butter, Franz Ciceri and Ergin Sezgin for useful discussions. The work of O.H. is supported by a DFG Heisenberg fellowship.

**Publisher's Note** Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

#### Appendix

#### A. Embedding Tensor in General Dimensions

Although our focus in this paper is the 3D case, for completeness we discuss here how to define embedding tensors for generalized diffeomorphisms in arbitrary dimensions, i.e., starting from more general Lie algebras  $g_0$ . This will illustrate from a yet different angle that the 3D case, which superficially seems to be rather special, fits nicely into the pattern in general dimensions.

We start with the Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  of the U-duality group under consideration, with generators  $t_\alpha$  satisfying  $[t_\alpha, t_\beta] = f_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma}t_{\gamma}$ . Furthermore, we pick a representation space *R* of  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  in which the coordinates live, and write for a generic vector  $v^M$ ,  $M = 1, \ldots, \dim(R)$ , and for the representation matrices  $(t_\alpha)_M{}^N$ . We can now define an infinite-dimensional extension  $\mathfrak{g}$  of  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  as described after (4.43). Specifically, the elements of  $\mathfrak{g}$  are functions of  $Y^M$  denoted by  $\zeta = (\lambda^M, \sigma^\alpha)$ , with Lie brackets

$$[\zeta_1, \zeta_2] = \left(2\lambda_{[1}{}^N\partial_N\lambda_{2]}{}^M, \ 2\lambda_{[1}{}^N\partial_N\sigma_{2]}{}^\alpha + f_{\beta\gamma}{}^\alpha\sigma_1{}^\beta\sigma_2{}^\gamma\right).$$
(A.1)

We now consider some important representations of this Lie algebra. First, the representation *R* naturally extends to infinite-dimensional g representations, whose elements are *R* valued functions  $v^M(Y)$ , on which  $\zeta \in \mathfrak{g}$  acts as

$$\delta_{\zeta} v^{M} \equiv \rho_{\zeta} v^{M} \equiv \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} v^{M} + \gamma \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} v^{M} - \sigma^{\alpha} (t_{\alpha})_{N}{}^{M} v^{N}.$$
(A.2)

Here  $\gamma$  is an arbitrary density weight, and so we can denote this representation space more appropriately as  $R^{[\gamma]}$ . Using that the  $(t_{\alpha})_M{}^N$  form a representation of the original algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_0$ , it is straightforward to verify that (A.2) is indeed a representation of (A.1):

$$[\rho_{\zeta_1}, \rho_{\zeta_2}] = \rho_{[\zeta_1, \zeta_2]}. \tag{A.3}$$

We again note that the coordinate indices need not be correlated with the R representation indices; the above would be a representation regardless, but this form is the one

appearing in our subsequent construction.<sup>10</sup> More generally, we can canonically define representations on any tensor power of R. In addition, we can consider the dual representation  $R^*$ , whose elements are functions  $A_M$  with invariant pairing  $R \otimes R^* \to \mathbb{R}$  given by

$$A(v) = \int \mathrm{d}Y \, v^M A_M, \tag{A.4}$$

where  $dY \equiv d^{\dim(R)}Y$ . More precisely, if the original representation space is  $R^{[\gamma]}$  the dual space  $(R^{[\gamma]})^*$  consists of functions  $A_M$  of intrinsic density weight  $1 - \gamma$ , with the transformation rules

$$\delta_{\zeta} A_M \equiv \rho_{\zeta}^* A_M \equiv \lambda^N \partial_N A_M + (1 - \gamma) \partial_N \lambda^N A_M + \sigma^{\alpha}(t_{\alpha})_M{}^N A_N.$$
(A.5)

As usual, this definition is equivalent to

$$(\rho_{\zeta}^* A)(v) = -A(\rho_{\zeta} v).$$
 (A.6)

Next, we investigate the adjoint and coadjoint representations. The adjoint representation acts on  $a = (p^M, q^\alpha) \in \mathfrak{g}$  as  $\delta_{\zeta} a = [\zeta, a]$ , which yields in components

$$\delta_{\zeta} p^{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} p^{M} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \lambda^{M},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} q^{\alpha} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} q^{\alpha} - p^{N} \partial_{N} \sigma^{\alpha} + f_{\beta\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \sigma^{\beta} q^{\gamma}.$$
(A.7)

The coadjoint representation acts on  $\mathfrak{g}^*$ , whose elements are functions  $\mathcal{A} = (A_\alpha, B_M)$  with the pairing  $\mathfrak{g}^* \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{R}$  defined as usual by an integral:

$$\mathcal{A}(a) = \int \mathrm{d}Y \left( p^M B_M + q^\alpha A_\alpha \right). \tag{A.8}$$

The coadjoint action is determined by requiring invariance of the integral and found to be

$$\delta_{\zeta} A_{\alpha} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} A_{\alpha} + \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} A_{\alpha} + f_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma} \sigma^{\beta} A_{\gamma},$$
  

$$\delta_{\zeta} B_{M} = \lambda^{N} \partial_{N} B_{M} + \partial_{M} \lambda^{N} B_{N} + \partial_{N} \lambda^{N} B_{M} + A_{\alpha} \partial_{M} \sigma^{\alpha}.$$
(A.9)

This definition of the coadjoint representation is of course equivalent to (4.16).

In order to relate to the embedding tensor formulation in arbitrary dimensions, we next have to use the general fact that for any representation R there is a canonical map

$$\pi : R \otimes R^* \to \mathfrak{g}^*. \tag{A.10}$$

(For *R* equal to  $\mathfrak{g}$  or  $\mathfrak{g}^*$  this coincides with the coadjoint representation, and so this map is a natural extension of our 3D construction based on the coadjoint representation.) This map is defined as follows: Since its image is a coadjoint vector it naturally acts on adjoint vectors  $\zeta$ , and so we can define, for  $v \in R$ ,  $A \in R^*$ ,

$$(\pi(v, A))(\zeta) \equiv (\rho_{\zeta}^* A)(v). \tag{A.11}$$

To illustrate this definition we note that for a finite-dimensional Lie algebra with generators  $t_{\alpha}$  this reads in a basis

$$\pi(v, A)_{\alpha} = v^{M}(t_{\alpha})_{M}{}^{N}A_{N}.$$
(A.12)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> A related question is whether in (A.2) one could employ the full Lie derivative w.r.t.  $\lambda$ , which can only be written if both indices are identified. It turns out that this would spoil closure.

We now evaluate (A.11) for our infinite-dimensional algebra and representations by computing for the right-hand side with (A.5)

$$(\rho_{\zeta}^{*}A)(v) = \int dY \Big( \lambda^{M} \big( v^{N} \partial_{M} A_{N} - \partial_{M} \big( v^{N} A_{N} \big) + \gamma \, \partial_{M} \big( v^{N} A_{N} \big) \Big) + \sigma^{\alpha} v^{M} (t_{\alpha})_{M}{}^{N} A_{N} \Big),$$
(A.13)

where we integrated by parts in order to move derivatives away from  $\lambda$ . With the pairing (A.8) we can then read off the map  $\pi$  from the left-hand side of (A.11):

$$\pi(v, A) = \left( v^M(t_\alpha)_M{}^N A_N, -\partial_M v^N A_N + \gamma \,\partial_M \left( v^N A_N \right) \right). \tag{A.14}$$

We are now ready to re-interpret the embedding tensor in these invariant terms. To this end we return to the general form  $\Theta_M{}^{\alpha}$  for the embedding tensor, which was employed for the gauged supergravity relation

$$X_{MN}{}^{K} = \Theta_{M}{}^{\alpha}(t_{\alpha})_{N}{}^{K}, \qquad (A.15)$$

c.f. (4.1), and view it as a map

$$\Theta: R \otimes \mathfrak{g}^* \to \mathbb{R}. \tag{A.16}$$

Contracting (A.15) with  $v, w \in R$  and  $A \in R^*$  and recognizing the map (A.12), we can write the Leibniz product on R via

$$A(v \circ w) = \Theta(v, \pi(w, A)). \tag{A.17}$$

We now claim that the Leibniz algebra defined by generalized Lie derivatives in generic dimensions is defined through this relation upon taking the embedding tensor to be given, for  $v \in R$ ,  $\mathcal{A} = (A_{\alpha}, B_M) \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , by

$$\Theta(v, \mathcal{A}) = -\int dY (v^M B_M - \kappa (t^{\alpha})_M{}^N A_{\alpha} \partial_N v^M), \qquad (A.18)$$

where  $\kappa$  is a constant to be determined. Note that the last term requires an invariant bilinear form on the original Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  in order to raise the index on  $t_\alpha$ , which is the first time that this assumption is needed. Evaluating the right-hand side of (A.17) with (A.14) we obtain

$$\Theta(v, \pi(w, A)) = \int dY (v^M \partial_M w^N A_N - \gamma v^M \partial_M (w^N A_N) + \kappa (t^\alpha)_M{}^N \partial_N v^M w^K (t_\alpha)_K{}^L A_L).$$
(A.19)

Integrating by parts, this can be rewritten in terms of the standard form of the generalized Lie derivative,

$$\mathcal{L}_{v}w^{M} \equiv v^{N}\partial_{N}w^{M} + \kappa (t^{\alpha})_{N}{}^{M}(t_{\alpha})_{L}{}^{K}\partial_{K}v^{L}w^{N} + \gamma \partial_{N}v^{N}w^{M}, \qquad (A.20)$$

as follows

$$\Theta(v, \pi(w, A)) = \int dY (\mathcal{L}_v w^M) A_M.$$
 (A.21)

Provided we choose  $\lambda$  and  $\kappa$ , which so far are free parameters, appropriately (depending on the group and representation *R*), the right-hand side is equal to  $A(v \circ w)$ . This proves

that the Leibniz algebra of generalized Lie derivatives is recovered in accordance with the embedding tensor construction (A.17).

As for the 3D case, it is illuminating to also view the embedding tensor as a map

$$\vartheta : R \to \mathfrak{g}, \tag{A.22}$$

defined, for  $v \in R$ ,  $\mathcal{A} \in \mathfrak{g}^*$ , by

$$\mathcal{A}(\vartheta(v)) \equiv -\Theta(v, \mathcal{A}). \tag{A.23}$$

From (A.18) one finds that this map reads explicitly

$$\vartheta(v) = \left(v^M, -\kappa(t^{\alpha})_M{}^N \partial_N v^M\right).$$
(A.24)

One of the advantages of this map is that, again, we can define the Leibniz product (or generalized Lie derivative) more explicitly by

$$v \circ w \equiv \rho_{\vartheta(v)} w. \tag{A.25}$$

In order to prove that this is equivalent to (A.17) we act with a covector  $A \in R^*$ :

$$A(v \circ w) = A(\rho_{\vartheta(v)}w) = -(\rho_{\vartheta(v)}^*A)(w) = -(\pi(w, A))(\vartheta(v)) = \Theta(v, \pi(w, A)),$$
(A.26)

where we used (A.6) and (A.11). One may also quickly verify with (A.24) that (A.25) yields the familiar formulas for generalized Lie derivatives (and thereby for the corresponding Leibniz algebras).

At this stage a cautionary remark is in order. In general, the embedding tensor map  $\vartheta$  is not gauge invariant. If  $\vartheta$  were gauge invariant we would have an immediate proof of the Leibniz relations as follows: Invariance means that, for  $v, w \in R$ , the following expression vanishes:

$$\Omega(v, w) \equiv \delta_{v}(\vartheta(w)) - \mathrm{ad}_{\vartheta(v)}\vartheta(w) = \vartheta(v \circ w) - [\vartheta(v), \vartheta(w)].$$
(A.27)

The Leibniz relations in turn involve the combination

$$(v_1 \circ v_2) \circ w + v_2 \circ (v_1 \circ w) - v_1 \circ (v_2 \circ w)$$
  
=  $\rho_{\vartheta(v_1 \circ v_2)} w - [\rho_{\vartheta(v_1)}, \rho_{\vartheta(v_2)}] w$  (A.28)  
=  $\rho_{\Omega(v_1, v_2)} w$ ,

where we used that  $\rho$  forms a representation of the Lie algebra g, and we recognized (A.27) in the last step. Thus, invariance of  $\vartheta$  or  $\Omega \equiv 0$  implies the Leibniz relations, but the converse is not true: Due to the section constraints there are 'trivial' parameters, so that one may have  $\rho_{\Omega(v_1,v_2)}w = 0$  without  $\Omega(v_1, v_2)$  being zero. This is indeed what happens for generic ExFTs.

#### References

- 1. Deser, S., Jackiw, R., Templeton, S.: Topologically massive gauge theories. Ann. Phys. **140**, 372–411 (1982)
- de Wit, B., Nicolai, H., Samtleben, H.: Gauged supergravities in three dimensions: A panoramic overview. In: Proceedings of Symmetries and mysteries of M theory, J. High Energy Phys. jhw2003 (2004). arXiv:hep-th/0403014
- 3. Witten, E.: Quantum field theory and the Jones polynomial. Commun. Math. Phys. 121, 351 (1989).
- 4. Witten, E.: Three lectures on topological phases of matter. Riv. Nuovo Cim. **39**(7), 313–370 (2016). arXiv:1510.07698
- Achucarro, A., Townsend, P.K.: A Chern–Simons action for three-dimensional Anti-de Sitter supergravity theories. Phys. Lett. B180, 89 (1986)
- 6. Witten, E.: (2 + 1)-dimensional gravity as an exactly soluble system. Nucl. Phys B311, 46 (1988)
- 7. Henneaux, M., Rey, S.-J.: Nonlinear  $W_{\infty}$  as asymptotic symmetry of three-dimensional higher spin AdS gravity. JHEP **12**, 007 (2010). arXiv:1008.4579
- Campoleoni, A., Fredenhagen, S., Pfenninger, S., Theisen, S.: Asymptotic symmetries of threedimensional gravity coupled to higher-spin fields. JHEP 11, 007 (2010). arXiv:1008.4744
- Loday, J.-L.: Cyclic Homology. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol 301. Springer, Berlin (1992)
- Nicolai, H., Samtleben, H.: Maximal gauged supergravity in three dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 1686– 1689 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0010076
- Nicolai, H., Samtleben, H.: Compact and noncompact gauged maximal supergravities in three dimensions. JHEP 04, 022 (2001). arXiv:hep-th/0103032
- 12. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: U-duality covariant gravity. JHEP 1309, 080 (2013). arXiv:1307.0509
- 13. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Exceptional field theory III:  $E_{8(8)}$ . Phys. Rev. **D90**, 066002 (2014). arXiv:1406.3348
- 14. Hohm, O., Musaev, E.T., Samtleben, H.: O(d + 1, d + 1) enhanced double field theory. arXiv:1707.06693
- 15. Siegel, W.: Superspace duality in low-energy superstrings. Phys. Rev. D48, 2826 (1993). arXiv:hep-th/9305073
- 16. Hull, C., Zwiebach, B.: Double field theory. JHEP 0909, 099 (2009). arXiv:0904.4664
- Hohm, O., Hull, C., Zwiebach, B.: Background independent action for double field theory. JHEP 1007, 016 (2010). arXiv:1003.5027
- Hohm, O., Hull, C., Zwiebach, B.: Generalized metric formulation of double field theory. JHEP 1008, 008 (2010). arXiv:1006.4823
- 19. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Exceptional form of D = 11 supergravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. **111**, 231601 (2013). arXiv:1308.1673
- 20. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Exceptional field theory I:  $E_{6(6)}$  covariant form of M-theory and type IIB. Phys. Rev **D89**, 066016 (2014). arXiv:1312.0614
- 21. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Exceptional field theory II: E<sub>7(7)</sub>. Phys. Rev. **D89**, 066017 (2014). arXiv:1312.4542
- 22. de Wit, B., Nicolai, H.: d = 11 supergravity with local SU(8) invariance. Nucl. Phys. **B274**, 363 (1986)
- 23. Hillmann, C.: Generalized  $E_{7(7)}$  coset dynamics and D = 11 supergravity. JHEP **0903**, 135 (2009). arXiv:0901.1581
- 24. Berman, D.S., Perry, M.J.: Generalized geometry and M theory. JHEP 1106, 074 (2011). arXiv:1008.1763
- Coimbra, A., Strickland-Constable, C., Waldram, D.: E<sub>d(d)</sub> × ℝ<sup>+</sup> generalised geometry, connections and M theory. JHEP 1402, 054 (2014). arXiv:1112.3989
- Berman, D.S., Cederwall, M., Kleinschmidt, A., Thompson, D.C.: The gauge structure of generalised diffeomorphisms. JHEP 1301, 064 (2013). arXiv:1208.5884
- 27. Cederwall M.: Non-gravitational exceptional supermultiplets. arXiv:1302.6737
- Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Gauge theory of Kaluza–Klein and winding modes. Phys. Rev. D88, 085005 (2013). arXiv:1307.0039
- Hohm, O., Wang, Y.-N.: Tensor hierarchy and generalized Cartan calculus in SL(3) × SL(2) exceptional field theory. JHEP 1504, 050 (2015). arXiv:1501.01600
- Abzalov, A., Bakhmatov, I., Musaev, E.T.: Exceptional field theory: SO(5, 5). JHEP 06, 088 (2015). arXiv:1504.01523
- 31. Musaev, E.T.: Exceptional field theory: SL(5). JHEP 02, 012 (2016). arXiv:1512.02163
- Berman, D.S., Blair, C.D.A., Malek, E., Rudolph, F.J.: An action for F-theory: SL(2) × ℝ<sup>+</sup> exceptional field theory. Class. Quant. Grav. 33(19), 195009 (2016). arXiv:1512.06115
- Baguet, A., Samtleben, H.: E<sub>8(8)</sub> exceptional field theory: Geometry, fermions and supersymmetry. JHEP 09, 168 (2016). arXiv:1607.03119
- Bossard, G., Cederwall, M., Kleinschmidt, A., Palmkvist, J., Samtleben, H.: Generalized diffeomorphisms for E<sub>9</sub>. Phys. Rev. D96(10), 106022 (2017). arXiv:1708.08936

- Strobl, T.: Mathematics around Lie 2-algebroids and the tensor hierarchy in gauged supergravity, talk at "Higher Lie theory", University of Luxembourg (2013)
- Kotov, A., Strobl, T.: The embedding tensor, Leibniz-Loday algebras, and their higher gauge theories. arXiv:1812.08611 [hep-th]
- 37. Vasiliev, M.A.: Equations of motion for d = 3 massless fields interacting through Chern-Simons higher spin gauge fields. Mod. Phys. Lett. A7, 3689–3702 (1992)
- 38. Hohm, O., Kupriyanov, V., Lust, D., Traube, M.: General constructions of  $L_{\infty}$  algebras. arXiv:1709.10004
- Zwiebach, B.: Closed string field theory: quantum action and the B-V master equation. Nucl. Phys. B390, 33–152 (1993). arXiv:hep-th/9206084
- Lavau, S., Samtleben, H., Strobl, T.: Hidden Q-structure and Lie 3-algebra for non-abelian superconformal models in six dimensions. J. Geom. Phys. 86, 497–533 (2014). arXiv:1403.7114
- 41. Hohm, O., Zwiebach, B.:  $L_{\infty}$  algebras and field theory. Fortsch. Phys. **65**(3-4), 1700014 (2017). arXiv:1701.08824
- 42. Cederwall, M., Palmkvist J.:  $L_{\infty}$  algebras for extended geometry from Borcherds superalgebras. arXiv:1804.04377
- Wit, B.de, Nicolai, H., Samtleben, H.: Gauged supergravities, tensor hierarchies, and Mtheory. JHEP 0802, 044 (2008). arXiv:0801.1294
- Wit, B.de, Samtleben, H., Trigiante, M.: On Lagrangians and gaugings of maximal supergravities. Nucl. Phys. B655, 93–126 (2003). arXiv:hep-th/0212239
- 45. Witten, E.: Coadjoint orbits of the Virasoro group. Commun. Math. Phys. 114, 1 (1988)
- Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Higher Gauge Structures in Double and Exceptional Field Theory. In: Proceedings of Durham Symposium. Higher Structures in M-Theory
- Henneaux, M., Maoz, L., Schwimmer, A.: Asymptotic dynamics and asymptotic symmetries of threedimensional extended AdS supergravity. Ann. Phys. 282, 31–66 (2000). arXiv:hep-th/9910013
- Arvanitakis, A.S.: Higher Spins from Nambu–Chern–Simons Theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 348(3), 1017 (2016). arXiv:1511.01482
- Bandos, I.A., Townsend, P.K.: SDiff Gauge theory and the M2 condensate. JHEP 0902, 013 (2009). arXiv:0808.1583
- 50. Hohm, O., Samtleben, H.: Reviving  $3D \mathcal{N} = 8$  superconformal field theories. arXiv:1810.12311 [hep-th]
- 51. Blumenhagen, R., Fuchs, M., Traube, M.:  $\mathcal{W}$  algebras are  $L_{\infty}$  algebras. JHEP **07**, 060 (2017). arXiv:1705.00736
- Hohm, O., Lüst, D., Zwiebach, B.: The spacetime of double field theory: Review, remarks, and outlook. Fortsch. Phys. 61, 926–966 (2013). arXiv:1309.2977

Communicated by H.-T. Yau/C. Schweigert